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2019-20: CARE BY THE NUMBERS 

Our work in 2019/20: 

 104 countries 

 1,349 projects 

 92.3 million people* 
* People who participated in one or more project activities 

 73% of the people we worked with are women and girls 
 

CARE’s goals 

CARE supports poor and marginalised people and communities to overcome injustice and 

tackle poverty. We focus on taking action in the following areas: 

Emergency response: We reached 28.8 million people affected by disaster, crisis (including 

the COVID-19 pandemic) or conflict. 

Life free from violence: We reached 2.4 million people with protection and support around 

gender-based violence. 

Sexual, reproductive and maternal health and rights: We supported 33.8 million people, 

especially women and girls, with information and access to health services. 

Women’s economic empowerment: We supported 2.6 million women and girls to gain 

greater access to and control over economic resources. 

Food and nutrition: We supported 22.6 million people to increase their access to nutritious 

food and their ability to cope with the effects of climate change. 
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Across all our work, we tackle the underlying causes of poverty and social injustice by: 

Strengthening gender equality and women’s voice 

17% of our projects and initiatives were gender transformative – meaning they contributed to 

a lasting change in the power and choices women and girls have over their own lives, rather 

than just a temporary increase in opportunities. A further 16% were gender responsive –

meaning they challenged inequitable gender structures, systems, norms, and power 

relations. A further 47% of our projects and initiatives were gender sensitive – meaning they 

identified and addressed the different needs of people based on their gender. 

13% of our projects and initiatives were fully focused on addressing gender-based violence, 

while a further 48% mainstreamed GBV in other project activities. 

 

Promoting dialogue and inclusive governance 

11% of our projects and initiatives were transformative for inclusive governance – meaning 

they contributed to a lasting change in underlying power dynamics. A further 11% were 

responsive – meaning they actively challenged underlying power dynamics. A further 61% 

worked to make existing institutions and power relations more inclusive. 

Activities to strengthen civil society were included in 45% of projects and initiatives; civil 

society strengthening was an explicit objective in 26% of projects. 

 

Increasing resilience 

70% of our projects and initiatives included actions to build resilience to shocks and 

setbacks. 

45% of projects fully or partially addressed vulnerability caused by climate change. 

 

About CARE International UK 

CARE International UK is a member of the global CARE International confederation, an 

international organisation working in 104 countries around the world. CARE International UK 

plays a major role in achieving CARE’s goals by raising funds for the confederation’s work 

around the world and providing programme support and expertise. The work highlighted in 

this report was directly supported by CARE International UK. 
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2019/20 REVIEW 

Message from the Chair: A year of challenges – and opportunities 

This message is in two parts. Firstly, covering the 12 months detailed in this report (July 

2019 to June 2020) and secondly updating on important recent developments since June 

2020.  

The year 2020 was a seismic year for the world: more people than ever before were 

displaced by conflict or crisis; the coronavirus pandemic started and spread to every country, 

exacerbating pre-existing inequalities and poverty; increasingly severe climatic events 

brought misery to millions, while the critical 5-year milestone meeting on the climate crisis 

was postponed; on 25 May 2020, George Floyd was murdered, sparking protests around the 

world which rightly put a huge spotlight on the ongoing, systemic injustice of racism. 

We are at a pivotal point where the future looks uncertain – for the world, and particularly for 

poor and vulnerable communities around the world – and the need for our work is as great 

as ever. 

But let’s not forget that huge progress has been made in reducing poverty in the last 30 

years. The proportion of people living in extreme poverty – living on less than £1.50 a day – 

has fallen from 1 in 3 in 1990, to less than 1 in 10 today. With continued global commitment 

and action, the world could meet the Global Goal to eliminate extreme poverty by 2030. 

So despite the many challenges during the year, it is right to celebrate what we have 

achieved. 

We have continued to support millions of people affected by the long-running conflicts in 

Syria and Yemen, the Rohingya refugees living in camps in Bangladesh, and the families 

affected by conflict, instability, cyclones, hurricanes, drought, and floods, across the African 

continent, and worldwide. 

In a year when the UK felt the pain of having to interrupt children’s education, we have 

continued to work closely with the UK government’s Girls’ Education Challenge in Somalia, 

Zimbabwe, and Afghanistan to enable girls to go to school, get better quality education, and 

have better opportunities when they leave. 

We have continued to work with companies with billions of customers, distributors, suppliers 

and staff in developing countries to help improve access to dignified work and economic 

justice for women. We welcome the investment of our corporate partners in working with us 

as partners in delivering programmes that make a difference for poor and marginalised 

people and communities around the world. 

Through our #March4Women movement, we have shone a spotlight on the links between 

gender inequality and the climate crisis. We have advocated to governments in the UK and 

worldwide to put gender justice at the heart of action to tackle the climate crisis, and we have 

provided support and funding for gender-just climate programming – such as our UK 

government-funded project in Tanzania focusing on women farmers. 

When the coronavirus pandemic hit, we quickly adapted our UK operations to remote 

working; and globally, CARE International adapted programmes in 67 countries in order to 

continue to work with and support people in a COVID-secure way and respond to the 

additional needs created by the pandemic. Thank you to all our supporters who gave 

generously to CARE and to the Disasters Emergency Committee coronavirus appeal. 
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The pandemic has brought home how interlinked the world is: we in the UK are facing the 

same issues that so many people around the world face. It has also shown how ordinary 

people have grasped the leadership in responding, by coming together and supporting each 

other – in all countries and between countries.  

CARE’s expertise lies in our holistic and inclusive approach to tackling poverty and injustice. 

We work with and alongside people and communities to fight poverty and injustice. We 

support people and communities to get their voices heard by those holding power. We stand 

with poor and marginalised people to tackle the structural inequalities and injustices that 

perpetuate poverty. We support people and communities to achieve lasting change. 

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues across the world, becoming not just a health crisis but 

a global social and economic crisis – with poor and marginalised people and communities, 

and particularly women and girls, disproportionately affected by its impacts – our work has 

never been more necessary, and our approach has never been more relevant. 

As the year covered by this report ended, CARE International approved a new Vision to take 

us forward to 2030. CARE’s Vision 2030 underlines our commitment to gender equality; 

humanitarian action; the right to food, water, and nutrition; the right to health; women’s 

economic justice; and climate justice. We will update the CARE International UK strategy in 

the light of this new vision. In the coming year, as part of our wide-ranging work in support of 

CARE’s mission to save lives, defeat poverty, and achieve social justice, we will also:  

 push for gender justice to be at the heart of what governments and companies do 

 work with other NGOs and climate justice movements to demand international 
commitments to ambitious targets and which ensure that women participate in and lead 
the global response to the climate crisis 

 update our sustainability policy and launch a new carbon offsetting programme for our 
supporters and partners 

 maintain our focus on safeguarding the people and communities we work with 

 work in partnership with the UK government to support better access to education, better 
quality education, and better opportunities for many more girls (and boys) around the 
world 

 work with more companies and with partner organisations nationally, regionally and 
globally to protect workers and communities from COVID-19 and promote economic 
justice for women around the world 

 continue hosting CARE’s global Women’s Economic Justice, Inclusive Governance and 
Emergency Shelter teams to provide strategic leadership, technical advice and support 
to the global CARE confederation 

 work with other NGOs to maintain public and parliamentary support for the UK’s 
commitment to provide 0.7% of national income in overseas aid; ensure that UK aid 
continues to be targeted on supporting the poorest and most vulnerable people in the 
poorest countries; and ensure transparency and accountability in aid spending 

 commit to shifting power in the way we work within the global CARE confederation and 
within the power structures created by the transfer of aid from the UK and other mainly 
white countries to Africa, Asia, the Middle East, and Latin America; our efforts to 
demonstrate that Black Lives Matter and that we are non-racists and anti-racist will 
include action with our staff and trustees, as well as systemic action to root out racism in 
the neo-colonial structures replicated by some forms of aid 

 support an even more diverse and inclusive staff team and meet our agreed diversity 
targets. 

During 2019/2020 we welcomed five new trustees: Stephen Oxley, Khalid el Ansari, Ebile 

Okobi, Kate Tench and Maliha Khan and are pleased to have significantly improved the 
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diversity of our Board. We would also like to thank the following trustees who completed their 

terms during this year: Michael Dyson, Federica Sambiase and Yusaf Samiullah, as well as 

Erin Segilia Chase who resigned as a trustee in order to become our Executive Director for 

Fundraising, Partnerships and Communications. We are extremely grateful to all of them for 

their huge contributions to CARE. I would also like to thank two committee members, Stuart 

Seymour and Willem van Eekelen, who stepped down this year, for their expert support and 

advice.     

Thank you to all our donors, funders and supporters for your courage and commitment, and 

for continuing to share our belief that together, we can defeat poverty and achieve social 

justice.  

Recent developments since June 2020 

Although the majority of this report focuses on the period between July 2019 and June 2020, 

it is important for us to record three important developments since June 2020.  

Firstly, on 16 June 2020, the Government announced that it would merge the Department for 

International Development into the Foreign & Commonwealth Office. The Foreign, 

Commonwealth & Development Office opened in September 2020. It was also announced 

that UK’s official development assistance budget would be cut in 2020 due to the impact on 

the UK economy of the global pandemic. In November 2020, the Chancellor announced that 

the UK’s commitment to provide 0.7% of national income in official development assistance 

each year, which has been enacted in law since 2015, would be cut in 2021 and until HM 

Treasury determines that the fiscal situation has improved.  

CARE has worked with other charities, MPs and Peers from all parties to oppose these 

changes which we believe will have a devastating impact on the most vulnerable people in 

the world at a time when the Covid pandemic is already pushing millions more people back 

into extreme poverty.  We have now seen huge cuts to funding for humanitarian assistance, 

gender equality, women’s rights, girls’ education and even health funding.  

As a major development partner of the UK Government, these cuts will also have a direct 

impact on CARE’s programme funding in 2021 and beyond and we have had to reduce our 

funding plans in 2021/22. This has included a major restructure of our teams in the UK 

leading to the removal of over 10% of UK based staff. We are sorry to have had to make 

these very difficult decisions and we are extremely grateful to all of those staff who had 

worked so hard towards CARE’s mission to bring justice and equality to the world.  

Secondly, our Annual Report and Accounts this year were published much later than usual. 

This is partly due to the impact of the pandemic and the UK government aid cuts which have 

affected so many charities. But it is also because we reviewed a number of historical 

programmes, where the projects were finished but the accounting had not been fully closed.   

These adjustments in no way affect the projects themselves, which delivered the assistance 

they were meant to give. Nor does it affect donors who have funded these projects and who 

have signed off on the programmatic results and financial reports of these completed 

projects. Most of the adjustments had little impact on overall restricted reserves but in some 

cases, it has required CARE International UK to adjust some balances which were 

overstated or are not recoverable, but not material, to unrestricted funds.   

In light of the change in our funding from the UK Government we reviewed our 2021/22 

budget to reduce costs and adopted a new medium-term financial plan to build our 

unrestricted reserves to a higher level. As long as we continue to deliver excellent 
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programmes for our government and corporate partners, continue to engage existing and 

new supporters with the amazing work CARE does around the world, and carefully 

implement our new financial plan, we are confident that we can manage our way through our 

current financial challenges and continue to support millions of vulnerable people around the 

world every year.  

As we sign these accounts, the Ukraine crisis has just begun and CARE is already gearing 

up its direct response and assistance. Early indications are that the response to our appeal 

for funds from individuals and corporates has been overwhelming. This will enable us to 

provide immediate assistance and to support CIUK in coordinating that response. 
  

Finally, we have also welcomed a further two new trustees to the Board since June 2020: 

Anita Yuen and Desiree D’Souza. Three trustees have also stepped down and we are 

grateful to Kate Tench, Ebele Okobi and in particular to Carolyn Clarke, who stood down in 

September 2021 after almost eight years as a trustee, and three years as the Chair of the 

Board.  

 

Carolyn said: "It has been a privilege to play my part in improving lives in the most 

challenging environments. In my time we have put CARE International UK on the map with 

#March4Women, made a real difference advocating for change, and we have innovated 

through the growth of initiatives such as Lendwithcare. Most importantly, during my time we 

developed our ability to evaluate and assess where we really have impact and make a 

difference." 

 

Carolyn has contributed an enormous amount to the way CARE has developed over the past 

seven years. She has brought both passion and rigour to the Chair’s role and we are very 

grateful for what she has done in what is a time consuming but very worthwhile position. 

 

We have begun the process of appointing a new Chair of the Board of Trustees. As Vice 

Chair, I will serve as Acting Chair until a permanent new Chair is appointed.  

 

Nigel Chapman  

Acting Chair, Board of Trustees, CARE International UK 
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Responding to the COVID-19 pandemic 

 

 

CARE Images ID 65375 © Sarah Alabsie/CARE 2020 – caption: 

Malak* taking part in hand washing training, Yemen 

“Before, I wasn’t washing my hands correctly. After CARE awareness, I wash them 

correctly and I have started to teach my friends.” 

Malak* lives in Taiz in Yemen. As the coronavirus pandemic spread around the world, CARE 

teams worked with vulnerable communities to support them to protect themselves and 

prevent the spread of the virus. In Taiz, our community health volunteers worked with 

children to show them good hygiene practices. Malak and her friends not only go away 

knowing how to wear and handle their masks safely and how to wash their hands to prevent 

the spread, they also teach their families what they have learned. 

*name changed to protect her identity 

CARE was able to respond quickly by working with partners and in communities to adapt our 

existing work to make it COVID-19 safe, and to provide additional support to address the 

new needs caused by the virus. By the close of the year covered by this report, CARE 

globally was responding in 67 countries, reaching 16 million people directly with our 

programmes. 

The COVID-19 global crisis is disproportionately affecting women and girls. CARE carried 

out 44 country-specific rapid gender assessments to bring to light the ways in which women 

are particularly affected. As care-givers and frontline workers, women are highly exposed to 

the virus. Lockdowns have increased instances of gender-based violence. The pandemic 

has reduced women and girls’ access to essential sexual and reproductive health services, 



   
 

9 
 

affected girls’ access to education, and seriously affected women’s livelihoods and economic 

opportunities. 

We adapted our existing programmes and started new projects to ensure that people got 

clean water, food and cash or vouchers to spend on meeting their needs; hygiene kits and 

information about COVID-19 prevention through mass media or direct two-way dialogue; as 

well as information about how to access gender-based violence services. At CARE 

International UK, we: 

 started six new COVID-19 response projects to prevent the spread and address both the 
health and economic impacts of the virus – including a UK government-funded project 
working in West Africa with the most vulnerable communities 

 adapted 65% of our existing programmes to include activities to prevent the spread of 
COVID-19, and to mitigate the impacts of the virus – including the work in Yemen 

 called for women’s participation and leadership in the COVID-19 response – including 
publishing research reports on the economic impact of COVID-19 on women and on 
women’s leadership in the global crisis. This report was used to inform and influence a 
large grant-making body on their approach to funding women’s organisations affected by 
COVID-19. 

 

Thank you to our funders 

Projects were funded by UK government through the Department for International 

Development (DFID, now part of the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office FCDO 

from September 2020); five projects with the Start fund; the players of the People’s Postcode 

Lottery; and individual CARE supporters who donated to our coronavirus emergency appeal. 
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Responding to natural disasters: Cyclone Idai in Mozambique  

 

 

CARE Images ID 65375 © Josh Estey/CARE 2020 – caption: 

Regina with part of the shelter kit provided by CARE with funding from UK aid 

 

“I am very grateful for receiving this shelter kit. All I want is one room for me and my 

daughter.”  

Regina Pauline Denise, from Buzi district of Sofala province, lost her home when Cyclone 

Idai hit Mozambique in March 2019. With funding from the UK government, CARE’s wide-

ranging response included providing shelter kits to more than 18,000 households, providing 

training so that people could rebuild their own homes in a more resilient way, and supporting 

540 of the most vulnerable people in the community with fully constructed build-back-safer 

houses. 

Working with community committees, we reached the most vulnerable people – including 

female-headed households, people with disabilities or chronic illnesses, elderly people, and 

households with six or more dependents – in hard-to-reach areas not covered by other 

humanitarian organisations. We listened to communities’ preferences for the shelter 

assistance they required, and worked with them to help them become more resilient to future 

extreme weather events. 
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As well as providing materials and training for individual households to rebuild their own 

homes, we rehabilitated infrastructure like schools and hospitals to ensure that communities 

would have continued access to education and healthcare, including reconstructing the 

“mothers’ waiting room” at Buzi hospital, the roof of which was destroyed in the cyclone. This 

means that pregnant women who live far from the hospital can stay in a secure, comfortable 

building before their due date to ensure they have an assisted delivery. 

 18,000 families received shelter kits to rebuild their homes – nearly two-thirds of people 
receiving shelter support were women 

 30+ classrooms were rehabilitated at 8 schools  

 24,500 school-age girls and boys were able to resume education in a safe environment  

 7 water points were rehabilitated and water committees trained to maintain them in future 

 Our partner AMPDC (Associação Moçambicana para Prevenção de Desastres naturais 

e Desenvolvimento Comunitário) set up three safe spaces in Bandua, Guara-Guara and 

Grudja to provide gender-based violence protection and support 

 26,000 emergency kits (eg blankets, cooking items, hygiene items) were procured for the 

Mozambique government to store at their warehouses for future extreme weather events 

 99% of people surveyed said that they were consulted before distribution of aid; 97% 
were satisfied with the support they received; 93% considered aid was timely 

 After the COVID-19 pandemic began, we included hygiene promotion in all activities that 

we were able to continue and altered the way we ran our activities, for example ensuring 

that construction teams wore PPE and group activities were reduced. 

 

Thank you to our funders 

This project ran from June 2019 to December 2020 and was funded by the UK government 

through DFID (now part of FCDO from September 2020), with a top-up from donations made 

by CARE supporters to our Cyclone Idai emergency appeal.  
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Responding to complex emergencies: Yemen 

 

 

© CARE 2020 – caption:  

Lola with the cow she was able to buy with money from CARE’s ‘cash for work’ project 

 

“The money that I received from the project helped me a lot. Now I can buy medicine 

for my son.” 

Lola is a mother to seven children and is responsible for providing for her extended family, 

including her children and grandchildren who live with her. She was invited to participate in 

CARE’s ‘cash for work’ project to repair the road to her remote village. Under this project, the 

community also rehabilitated classrooms in the village school, ensuring lessons could 

continue for 160 pupils. With the money from the project, Lola bought food, school books, 

pens – and even a cow. “Now, the kids can study safely,” she says, “… and I can’t wait for 

my cow to produce milk for my family!” 

Years of armed conflict combined with economic collapse, droughts, and the breakdown of 

public services, mean 80% of Yemen’s people need humanitarian aid, with over 20 million 

depending on food assistance. We delivered life-saving cash assistance and humanitarian 

aid to thousands of vulnerable and conflict-affected people – both displaced people and host 

communities – in severely food insecure locations. 
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Over the three years of this project (which ended in March 2020), CARE and our partners 

provided food, nutrition, health, and WASH (water, sanitation, hygiene) assistance to 

vulnerable households in hard-to-reach areas of Al Hodeidah, Taizz, Marib, and Al Mahwit 

governorates. 

 107,000 people received unconditional cash grants – meaning they could decide how 
best to spend the money to meet their family’s immediate needs 

 5,750 people received ‘cash for work’ for participating in a community rehabilitation 
project  

 15,500 children under 5 were treated for malnutrition 

 40,200 children under 5 received primary health care services 

 13,100 women received maternal health care services 

 92,000 people were provided with consultations by medical outreach services 

 10,100 people were provided with emergency drinking water 

 146,000 people benefited from the provision of sustainable safe drinking water, for 
example through rehabilitation of village water points and installation of water tanks 

 54,700 people received hygiene kits 
 

Thank you to our funders 

The Multisector Humanitarian Response Programme in Yemen ran from April 2017 to March 

2020 and was funded by the UK government through DFID (now part of FCDO from 

September 2020). The project was in partnership with Mercy Corps, Action Contre la Faim 

(Action Against Hunger), and the Norwegian Refugee Council.  



   
 

14 
 

HIGHLIGHTS  

Responding to long-term crises: Syria 

 

 

CARE Images ID 58945 © Ali Al-Marie/Syria Relief 2020 – caption:  

Sara*, who lives in a camp for displaced people in northern Idlib, says: “The most important thing we need now is 

to create job opportunities for young people” 

 

“I can’t explain how happy I am that I received the nursing certificate. I can now get 

out of my house and work the job that I like.” 

Samiya* is a 37-year-old single woman in Syria. She has a disability caused by nerve 

damage to her hand and leg as a teenager, and has been unable to work or complete her 

education since then. At a Women and Girls Safe Space supported by CARE, she was 

helped by a psychosocial specialist to overcome her lack of confidence and join a nursing 

course. She says: “My dream was to study nursing. I will not let my fears kill my ambition.” 

*name changed to protect her identity 

Millions of people in Syria are struggling to survive in the face of protracted conflict, repeated 

displacements, loss of livelihoods, and lack of basic services. As these changing 

circumstances lead women and girls to take on less traditional roles at home and in their 

communities, many face an increased risk of violence and abuse. Our work inside Syria 

aims to support vulnerable families – and particularly women and girls – to cope with 

ongoing shocks and uncertainty, and to participate in economic life. 

 

This wide-ranging project supports families to meet their immediate needs and build their 

ability to cope in the future. Immediate support includes providing multipurpose cash grants 
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so that vulnerable households can buy the food, medicine, or non-food items (such as 

household goods, bedding, clothes) that they need. We also provide temporary income 

opportunities (called ‘cash for work’) to support people through lean times and to increase 

their livelihood skills. This is backed up by economic development plans that aim to restore 

and expand livelihoods at the community level in the long term.  

We identify and support vulnerable individuals with information about gender-based violence 

and with access to specialised support services. We also build the capacity of local partner 

organisations to provide protection support to the people they work with. 

Since it began in 2017, this project has reached 1.5 million people. In 2019/20: 

 20,400 people participated in ‘cash for work’ programmes 

 42,200 people benefited from multipurpose cash grants 

 167,000 people received non-food items, hygiene kits, and/or shelter rehabilitation as 
part of our Rapid Response Mechanism to meet urgent humanitarian needs 

 99,500 people benefited from direct inputs to support their livelihoods in livestock, dairy, 
and wheat value chains 

 89,800 people were reached with critical protection activities, including awareness 
raising on access to protection services, psychosocial support, and prevention and 
response to gender-based violence, including case management. 

 

Thank you to our funders 

The Syria Resilience Programme is funded by the UK government through DFID (now part 

of FCDO from September 2020). It began in 2017 and ran until March 2021.  
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Responding rapidly to kick-start recovery from disaster 

  

 

Photo © Arlene Bax/CARE/Shelter Box 2020 – caption: 

Risa outside her cyclone-damaged home; the tarpaulin covering the holes in her roof, and the set of cooking 

utensils, were provided by CARE 

 

“I am so thankful there are people out there that have thought of us. Without them, 

our life would be much harder.” 

Risa, a grandmother who lives with her adult daughter and 2-year-old grandson, saw the 

roof and back wall of her home torn away by Cyclone Harold when it hit the Pacific island 

nation of Vanuatu in April 2020. Thanks to a rapid response from CARE, she was one of 

thousands of people who received emergency shelter support. She says: “I am so very 

blessed to have this tarpaulin. My house was so badly damaged that without it we could not 

have come back to our house.” 

 

Every year, families like Risa’s are hit by disasters and emergencies that don’t make the 

headlines – but can devastate their lives. Thanks to our presence in 100 countries around 

the world, and the generosity of funders like IHG (the Intercontinental Hotels Group) and the 

Start Fund, CARE can rapidly respond to help people cope in the immediate aftermath, and 

to build back their homes and livelihoods afterwards. 
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CARE worked with our partners Vanuatu Society for Disabled People and MORDI TT 

(Mainstreaming of Rural Development Innovation Tonga Trust) to provide shelter kits and 

other emergency support (including health and hygiene messaging on COVID-19) to 19,200 

people in Vanuatu and 13,200 people in Tonga. The CARE Emergency Shelter Team, 

hosted by CARE International UK, provided technical support to CARE Vanuatu to plan and 

deliver the shelter response following Cyclone Harold. Our shelter recovery programme 

focuses on supporting households and communities to re-establish their own houses in a 

way that builds back safer and helps to increase the resilience of the community to future 

disasters. 

 

“Right before our eyes, everything vanished. Water and mud filled our house instead. 

We didn’t know what to do.” – Ahmed Abubakr, from Aden, Yemen 

Through an immediate application to the Start Fund, CARE was able to reach an extremely 

vulnerable population – who had lost or sustained damage to their homes, livelihoods and 

clean water sources – within seven days of severe flooding in Aden and Marib governorates 

in Yemen in April 2020. Within a period of only 45 days, we supported 95,000 people with 

hygiene kits, other non-food items, multi-purpose cash assistance, hygiene promotion 

campaigns, and solid-waste management services. We worked closely with communities 

and local authorities to coordinate and deliver the response and observed COVID-19 safety 

protocols throughout. 

 

Thank you to our funders 

The Cyclone Harold response received funding from IHG. The Start Fund provided funds for 

immediate responses to 18 emergencies in 2019-20.  
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Enabling women to lead emergency responses 

 

 

© Meave Murphy / CARE 2020 – caption: 
Halatu Benjamin, a refugee from South Sudan and participant in CARE’s Women Lead in Emergencies project 

 

“We formed the group because as an individual it is harder to solve problems, but 

easier to solve them as a group.” 

Halatu Benjamin is a refugee from South Sudan living in the Omugo settlement, Uganda. 

She is one of the leaders of the Yoleta (‘Think about it!’) women’s group participating in 

CARE’s Women Lead in Emergencies project. The Yoleta group organised a peaceful sit-

down strike to protest at the way food distributions were being handled (they were having to 

walk 10km to the nearest food distribution point). As a result, humanitarian agencies 

engaged with the women, and started distributing food directly in the settlement. Halatu 

says: “We need to speak up for our rights, because it is mostly women that are suffering.” 

 

Women are so often excluded from participation and leadership in humanitarian responses – 

which means they do not have a say in identifying what their needs are and deciding how 

best to meet them. Women Lead in Emergencies works with poor, marginalised women who 

have been affected by crisis – women with the least say in humanitarian decision-making, 

but the same women who are first to respond to support themselves, their families and their 

communities when crisis strikes. 
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Women Lead is being piloted in Colombia, Niger, Mali, Philippines, and Uganda. It’s being 

used in all types of emergency, from natural disasters to protracted crises, from conflict 

settings to global health pandemics. In the Omugo settlement in Uganda: 

 Women Lead is supporting four women’s groups (including Halatu’s Yoleta group) 
made up of South Sudanese women refugees to develop and implement their own 
action plans to increase their participation in emergency response 

 The Women Lead team have supported one group to formally register as a 
community-based organisation (the first one in the settlement) – the South Sudanese 
Refugee Women's Association 

 The groups organised two Women’s Conferences to build networks and solidarity 
within the settlement and to raise their concerns with humanitarian agencies  

 The women identified provision of adult learning (to increase literacy and 
confidence), counselling (to heal from trauma), VSLAs (savings groups) and 
business skills training (to increase livelihood opportunities) as key needs to enable 
them to participate in and lead the emergency response 

 The women’s groups are working with men in the community to raise awareness of 
and reduce gender-based violence  

 Women participating in Women Lead in Omugo reported that their confidence in their 
own communication skills had increased from 42% to 91% during the project, and 
their ability to work with other women to solve problems from 30% to 92% 

 

Thank you to our funders 

Women Lead in Emergencies is a joint initiative of the CARE Global Inclusive Governance 

team (hosted by CARE International UK) and the CARE Global Gender in Emergencies 

team (hosted by the CARE International Secretariat). The pilot projects are funded by Sall 

Family Foundation, Global Affairs Canada, and ECHO.  
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Every girl’s right to the opportunity to learn 

 

 

CARE Images ID 62914 © Toby Madden/CARE 2019 – caption: 

Students at a school supported by CARE in Somalia 

 

“Now I am able to read and write! I am proud to have made it to Level One in such a 

short time.” 

15-year old Saadiya had never been to school as she spent all of her time looking after her 

younger siblings, rearing animals, cooking, washing clothes, and fetching water and 

firewood. “From dawn to dusk we girls are always burdened with doing something,” says 

Saadiya. “Girls are not given an opportunity to learn.” That all changed when we asked her 

to join our Accelerated Basic Education programme: one year on, Saadiya is now able to 

read fluently and has gained valuable numeracy skills. 

 

Girls in Somalia can face multiple barriers to gaining an education – ranging from their 

family’s inability to pay school fees, to expectations that girls should stay at home to do 

household chores. Our education programmes in Somalia, Zimbabwe, and Afghanistan 

under the UK government-funded Girls’ Education Challenge support some of the most 

marginalised and vulnerable girls (including adolescents) to access both formal and informal 

education and stay in school. 
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In our education programmes, delivered through our partners in Somalia, Zimbabwe, and 

Afghanistan, we collaborate with parents/caregivers, teachers, facilitators, communities, and 

local authorities, to create an enabling environment that encourages the active participation 

and learning, in both formal and informal education settings, of girls from poor and 

marginalised communities. This includes contributing to more gender inclusive education 

systems and schools; improving teaching quality; providing tailored education support such 

as mentoring and bursaries; and tackling harmful social norms that prevent girls from going 

to school. In Somalia in 2019-20: 

 6,600 girls aged 10-12 were enrolled in school for the first time or re-enrolled after 
dropping out of school 

 7,200 out-of-school girls aged 13-16 were supported through our Accelerated Basic 
Education programme to catch up with their peers and so be able to enter formal 
schooling 

 6,600 girls aged 17-19 years who had either dropped out of school or never been to 
school were supported through tailor-made education opportunities 

 50 schools were supported to set up girls’ forums for mentorship on leadership and life 
skills, and 3,600 Girls Club leaders were trained 

 972 teachers were trained, and a further 468 teachers/facilitators received specific 
training on ways to teach numeracy and literacy, and on promoting gender equity in the 
classroom 

 304 school management committees were trained 

 419 community groups in 18 districts were supported to establish Village Savings and 
Loan Associations (VSLAs) which increase the ability of parents/caregivers to respond to 
the financial burdens that prevent girls from going to school 

 30 religious leaders and 140 Quranic teachers received training on how to tackle harmful 
social norms that prevent girls from going to school 

 10,800 girls received menstrual hygiene kits. 
 

Thank you to our funders 

Our education programmes in Somalia were funded by the UK government through DFID 

(now part of FCDO from September 2020), supported by additional funding from the players 

of People’s Postcode Lottery. 
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Putting the power to create change in citizens’ hands 

 

 

© Traction Malawi 2020 – caption: 

The Citizen Data Hub collects information about people’s concerns over local service delivery and priorities for 

government spending 

 

“I am surprised with how this has managed to bring us together in a constructive 

discussion. This gives us hope.” 

Nabanda participated in a women’s group discussion in Mulanje, Malawi, about her 

community’s concerns and priorities for local health service delivery. The group used 

CARE’s Community Score Card tool to identify issues and consider solutions. She says: “We 

had always looked at the health facility personnel as untouchables and felt that we could not 

sit at the same table with them and discuss issues that concern us as community members 

and especially as women.” Now, she says, they have hope that they will be listened to, and 

will get the health service improvements that they need. 

 

Many ordinary Malawians are unable to influence decisions over local government spending 

or the quality of service delivery, due to a lack of information and an unwillingness by some 

leaders to consult with them. CARE’s Traction Malawi project gathers and analyses citizen 

data from the local to national level, to enable local actors to get the information and support 

they need to effectively call for improvements in the management of public funds and 

delivery of public services. 
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With our partners Kwantu and World Vision, we have built the first ever national Citizen Data 

Hub that aggregates and analyses citizen data country-wide, using a Community Score Card 

and a Budget Monitoring app. This information is used to build a clear picture of trends in 

people’s concerns about and problems with service delivery, with the aim of supporting poor 

communities in Malawi to advocate for solutions to the critical problems that they face. 

From early analysis, the top issues currently identified by citizens relate to HIV health care 

services, in particular access to PMTCT (prevention of mother-to-child transmission) 

services, and disclosure, support and maintenance of confidentiality for HIV-positive 

patients.  

By the end of the 2020 calendar year, the project will have pooled data covering 42 health 

facilities and hospitals, and 99 schools, across 12 districts.  

With data disaggregated by age, disability and gender, the Citizen Data Hub platform 

provides missing evidence from marginalised communities, filling critical gaps in national 

government statistics. This evidence and analysis will serve as a public service for Malawian 

citizens, civil society and public officials to inform and influence policy and practice on 

effective service delivery and economic growth.  

While this represents a real opportunity for change in Malawi, it also provides proof of 

concept for a digital innovation that can be used globally to support citizen monitoring of 

progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals; build more accountable and 

responsive national governance systems; and improve the quality of service for those ‘left 

behind’. 

 

Thank you to our funders 

Traction Malawi is funded by the UK government through DFID (now part of FCDO from 

September 2020).  
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Adapting our Lendwithcare model to COVID-19 

 

  

© CARE Ecuador 2020 – caption: 
Rosa and fellow members of her farmers’ association in Ecuador 

 

“At this time of quarantine and pandemic we must, like so many others, adapt to a 

different way of living.” 

Rosa Andrango is 37 years old and lives in the city of Tabacundo, Ecuador. When COVID-

19 hit in Ecuador, markets and trade fairs were closed, and Rosa and fellow members of her 

farmers’ association began taking orders via WhatsApp and delivering food baskets directly 

to their customers’ door. Through the Small Business Solidarity Fund, which was launched 

by CARE’s microfinance initiative Lendwithcare to support micro-entrepreneurs affected by 

COVID-19, Rosa and her fellow association members each received a cash grant of $120 

delivered via CARE Ecuador.  

 

Lendwithcare supporters have this year provided micro-loans to more than 22,000 people, 

mostly women, to support them in developing their small businesses and creating 

employment opportunities. However, when the coronavirus pandemic hit and the countries 

where Lendwithcare works went into lockdown, administering new loans became difficult, 

and in some cases impossible – and we had to find a way to support entrepreneurs to 

survive the economic challenges caused by the pandemic. 
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We quickly introduced a grant-based model and appealed to Lendwithcare supporters to 

fund a Small Business Solidarity Fund. We also supported our microfinance partners in the 

12 low-income countries where Lendwithcare works, to provide alternative services to their 

clients to sustain them while their businesses were closed.  

As well as introducing the Solidarity Fund, where possible we continued to facilitate loans to 

entrepreneurs. Jenny Lyn Doary is a 32-year-old mother of two in the Philippines, who made 

the bold decision to start farming as a means to earn an extra income to support her family. 

Jenny Lyn is taking part in a corn production project run by Lendwithcare’s local partner, 

Lamac Multi-Purpose Cooperative. Thanks to Lendwithcare lenders, Jenny Lyn received 

loan funding to buy 20 kilos of corn seeds which she has planted on one hectare of rented 

farmland. Jenny Lyn will be using her own savings to pay for the workers she has hired to 

help with planting, and intends to do the same when it’s time to harvest the crops, which 

Lamac has committed to buying and will distribute through the cooperative. 

During the year 5,300 new supporters joined Lendwithcare, bringing the cumulative number 

of Lendwithcare lenders to nearly 61,000 by the end of the year. 82% of loans were to 

female-run businesses. Businesses receiving loans include farming, animal or poultry 

raising, retail, non-retail traders, taxi/rickshaw drivers, sewing/tailoring, and manufacturing. 

 

Thank you to our funders 

Lendwithcare is supported by individuals, small business owners, community groups such as 

Rotary Clubs, and Heathrow passengers and staff (Lendwithcare is Heathrow’s current 

charity partner). 

 

The Lendwithcare model 

Lendwithcare is separate microfinance initiative operated by Care UK via an agency 

arrangement and is not accounted for as a charitable activity through Care UK’s financial 

statements. Lendwithcare works with local Microfinance Initiative partners to bring together 

entrepreneurs in developing countries with individuals in the UK who want to lend them 

money for their business idea. CARE UK does not treat any Lendwithcare funds as its own 

and specifically excludes them from all cash flow calculations and its transactions pass 

through demarcated bank accounts.  
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Taking action for gender equality and climate justice 

 

 

CARE Images ID 66674 © Guy Bell/CARE 2020 – caption:  
Hilda Nakabuye (front right, holding CARE placard) on the #March4Women march for gender equality and 

climate justice 

“The hope lies in us, the people. I am here to haunt, cry, inspire and provoke action. 

This is our time.”  

For our annual International Women’s Day event on 8th March (held before restrictions on 
public gatherings in the UK were introduced), we invited Hilda Nakabuye, the founder of 
Fridays for Future Uganda, to join us as a keynote speaker. #March4Women highlighted the 
links between the climate crisis and gender inequality, and celebrated the power and 
passion of women and girls on the frontline of responding. Hilda, whose family has been 
personally affected by the climate crisis, told us: “The climate movement must listen to 
women because we draw on our experiences to offer solutions.” 
 
 
#March4Women is a global movement for gender equality that brings people together to 

share, inspire, and take action. Our International Women’s Day event is an opportunity for 

CARE supporters to come out in person to show we care, to enjoy being together with others 

who want gender equality, and to collectively call on all governments – including the UK 

government – to take action for gender equality.  
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This was our 9th annual International Women’s day celebration. This year we held an indoor 

rally at the Royal Festival Hall in partnership with the Women of the World festival; a public 

march along Whitehall to Parliament Square; and a finale rally in Parliament Square with 

speeches and entertainment. 

The day brought together 5,000 CARE supporters, organisations including our 20 partner 

organisations, and more than 60 well known celebrities, musicians, actors as well as MPs 

from across the political spectrum to help raise awareness for gender equality and climate 

justice.  

Together we showed solidarity with those impacted by climate change around the world, and 

demonstrated the strength of public opinion. We stood outside the seat of power in the UK 

and showed the government that its voters care about women’s rights and climate action.  

Thousands signed postcards to Alok Sharma, as President of the COP26 UN climate talks 

and UK Business Secretary, calling for a rapid shift to net zero emissions; women and youth 

front and centre of national climate plans; more funding for climate responses around the 

world; and specific funding for women’s groups, feminist organisations and local women 

leaders. 

The event also led to more than 1,000 pieces of press coverage, which along with social 

media posts from trusted spokespeople and well-known figures, reached millions of people 

with key messages about the importance of the issue.  

 

Thank you to our funders 

The #March4Women event was funded by the players of People’s Postcode Lottery and 

would not have been possible without their support. Thanks also to those who bought tickets 

to the indoor rally in partnership with the WOW festival.  
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THANK YOU TO OUR SUPPORTERS 

Thank you to everyone who has supported CARE in 2019/2020.  

This includes all those people who have made one-off or regular donations or taken part in 

fundraising events and campaigns. Your support is invaluable in helping us to fight poverty 

around the world. We couldn’t do it without you. 

 

Thank you 

 

 

In 2019/20, incredible CARE supporters gave over £2 million through donations, gifts left in 

Wills, running, walking, cycling and all manner of other inspiring, sometimes crazy, 

fundraising activities.  

We don’t have space to thank you all personally but here are just a few of our favourites 

from the past year: 

 Tony Riddle (above) ran from Land’s End to John O’Groats – barefoot! – and raised 
£1,017 for CARE. 
 

 Luci Gorell Barnes (below, centre) and her friends Joannie Nakakawa (left) and Eszter 
Traumne Nemeth (right) raised £1,846 for our Yemen appeal through a homemade gin 
and jam sale. 
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 15 supporters joined our Vietnam to Cambodia bike ride in September 2019 and raised 
over £70,000 for CARE. Special thanks to Faiza, Nahla, and Lubna, three women living 
in Dubai, who raised £17,000 while challenging and breaking down stereotypes by 
participating in the ride. 
 

 Professor Ebbatson, who has been supporting CARE since 2013, and this year made a 
total of 11 donations of £5 each – giving £55 in total. 
 

 Renee Vincett has been sending Lendwithcare a £15 cheque each month since August 
2016 so that we can make loans on her behalf. She also donates all of the repayments 
on her loans towards Lendwithcare’s operational costs – meaning this year, as well as 
her monthly loans to small business owners through Lendwithcare, she gave £185. 
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Thank you to everyone who has supported CARE in the last year. This includes all those 

people who have taken part in fundraising events and campaigns, as well as those regular 

supporters who we rely on to fund our ongoing work. Your donations are invaluable in 

helping us to fight poverty around the world. 

A list of larger value donors and individuals who have supported CARE International UK this 

year is provided here: 

 

Statutory donors 

Conflict, Stability and Security Fund through the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (CSSF) 

Department for International Development (DFID) 

Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC) 

European Commission (EC) 

European Commission’s Directorate-General for Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection 

(ECHO) 

Foreign & Commonwealth Office (FCO) 

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) 

United Nations Office for Project Services (UNOPS) 

United Nations Peacebuilding Fund (UNPBF) 

 

Trusts, foundations, and charities 

Action Aid UK 

Aga Khan Foundation UK 

Thani Bin Abdullah Bin Thani Al-Thani Humanitarian Fund 

Beatitudes 

Better Cotton Initiative (BCI) 

Comic Relief 

The Cotton Trust 

Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC)  

The Fawcett Society 

Generation Fund 

Global Challenges Research Fund 

Guernsey Overseas Aid  

Halcrow Trust 

International Rescue Committee UK (IRC) 
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The IPSOS Foundation 

Islamic Relief Worldwide (UK) 

Jersey Overseas Aid 

Trusts, foundations, and charities continued 

Jimmy Choo Foundation  

Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust 

The Lord Deedes of Aldington Charitable Trust 

The MacDaibhidh Charitable Trust 

Marie Stopes International 

Mercy Corps Europe 

Norwegian Refugee Council 

Oxfam GB 

Oxford Brookes University 

Plan International UK 

People’s Postcode Lottery 

The Positive Action for Children Fund 

The Power of Nutrition 

Results for Development 

Save the Children 

Solidarites International 

St Clare & St Francis Trust 

START Fund 

START Network 

The Talent Fund/Make Humanity Great Again  

Tony Blair Institute 

VIIV Healthcare 

World Vision UK 
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Companies 

Development Alternatives Inc (DAI) 

Diageo 

GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) 

Grant Thornton 

Heathrow Airport Ltd 

Hogan Lovells 

IHG (InterContinental Hotels Group) 

KPMG 

Marks & Spencer, PLC 

Mondelēz International, Inc. 

Mott MacDonald Ltd 

Palladium International Limited 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PWC) 

Primark Stores (Ltd) 

Stars Group Ltd 

Sunbites UK 

Twinings 

Unilever 

 

Key supporters 

David Arnold 

Fiona Thompson 

Nicholas and Mary Grey 

 

Thank you also to all those who donated to the Disasters Emergency Committee. As a 

member of the DEC, in 2019-20 we received vital funds from the Cyclone Idai Appeal to 

assist affected communities in Mozambique. 
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CARE Images ID 74024, © CARE 2020 

Delder Begum (above) and her young daughter have lived in the Rohingya refugee camps 

in Bangladesh since 2017. Over the past three years, CARE has been working with the 

Rohingya population to improve their living conditions – with a particular focus in 2020 on 

supporting people to protect themselves from and respond to COVID-19. Around 200 

Rohingya volunteers working with CARE programmes have played a critical role. Delder is 

one of them – she is a member of the Women Disaster Management Volunteers of Camp 

14, where CARE Bangladesh provides site management. She says: “The last three years 

have matured me beyond time and redefined the meaning of life altogether. I am still trying 

to come to terms with the loss of my husband and sons but I find solace in contributing to my 

community here.” So far, CARE’s response has supported 334,000 people with health, 

nutrition, shelter, water, sanitation, protection and gender-based violence support. Thank 

you to GSK, Jersey Overseas Aid Committee and individual donors for helping to fund 

CARE’s work with Rohingya refugees and host communities in Cox’s Bazar, Bangladesh, in 

2019/20. 

 

During the year, the UK government-funded Work and Opportunities for Women (WOW) 

programme secured new partnerships with private sector stakeholders. Together with our 

WOW alliance partners, we worked with these business partners to design and deliver 

projects that address barriers to women’s economic empowerment, including sexual 

harassment, access to leadership positions, recognition within supply chains, and unpaid 

care work. A key driver of this engagement with business was the evidence and data we 

collected, and the insights and guidance we provided. This included a report into the burden 

of unpaid care work that women in the garment industry face, alongside a webinar to engage 

businesses in how unpaid care work affects their supply chains and share practical 

examples of how business can help reduce the burden. WOW also released a rapid review 

of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on women’s economic empowerment, and a 

guidance note on measuring women’s economic empowerment. 
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Photo © FORUMCC/CARE 2019 

Our Help Her Live, Learn and Earn (HELP) project in Tanzania, funded by the UK 

government through UK Aid Match, provides Climate Smart Agriculture training and support 

to 2,460 small-scale farmers in the remote Same district, enabling them to increase 

productivity and cope with the negative impacts of climate change. The HELP project has 

improved the livelihoods and food security of more than 13,000 people in the six project 

villages, with thousands more across the district benefiting from the sharing of new 

approaches to farming and marketing that the farmers learn during the project. Rose Ibrahim 

Mchombu, whose hillside farm has been terraced and is now one of the showcase training 

plots for the project, says: “I’ll be able to grow more and get a bigger yield, and hopefully my 

income will increase.” Anna Latasaruaki (above), a mother of six children, says: “I feel 

empowered. The project has really changed my perspectives, making me a better decision-

maker for my family and other farmers.” 

 

Our Women’s Equality in the OPT (Occupied Palestinian Territories) project works with the 

security and justice sectors to improve women’s public participation and equality. The project 

is funded by the UK government’s Conflict, Stability and Security Fund, and implemented in 

partnership with three local women-led organisations (Women Media and Development, 

Women’s Centre for Legal Aid and Counselling, and Women’s Affairs Technical Committee). 

In 2019-20, the project successfully lobbied to include women in all COVID-19 Response 

Committees at national, governmental, and district level; provided legal support to help a 

woman successfully appeal against dismissal from her government ministry job, after she 

had raised a complaint of sexual harassment; launched a nationwide anti-sexual harassment 

public information campaign; and campaigned for the adoption of the Family Protection Law 

to better protect women from domestic violence. 
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CARE Images ID 61981, © Jorja Currington/CARE 2019, caption:  

Arifa is a supervisor at a garment factory in Dhaka, Bangladesh 

 

As COVID-19 began to spread, CARE rapidly adapted our Made by Women strategy – 

which aims to promote dignified work and the economic empowerment of women working in 

the garment industry in 11 countries – to respond to the new challenges and human rights 

risks created by the pandemic. CARE's global Women’s Economic Empowerment team, 

hosted by CARE International UK, supported the design of CARE’s emergency response 

activities to meet the immediate needs of female garment workers, and helped to develop 

new thematic priorities for the next three years to address the impacts and risks created by 

COVID-19. This work resulted in over $1 million of new and reallocated funding to support 

female garment workers during the pandemic, including through cash transfers and the 

provision of essential health, gender-based violence, and sexual and reproductive health 

services. 
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT  

Governing body and governance 

CARE International UK is a registered charity and a private company limited by guarantee. 

The objects of the company, as set out in the Memorandum and Articles of Association, are 

to relieve poverty and sickness, to promote the preservation and protection of health and to 

advance education among the world’s poor. The governing body of the charity is the Board 

of Trustees. The Board meets formally four times a year. In addition, there are three 

standing committees: 

• Programme and Policy Committee 
• Finance and Audit Committee 
• Ethics and People Committee (replacing the Ethics and Risk Committee and the 

Nominations and Remuneration Committee) 

These committees are made up of members of the Board and other independent individuals 

with relevant experience under specific terms of reference from the Board.  

CARE International UK held 4 board meetings and 15 committee meetings during 2019/20. 

Attendance at board meetings was 100% and attendance by individual trustees at committee 

meetings was 37/42 (88%). 

Potential candidates for both the Board and committees are recruited through an open and 

transparent process, including by advertisement in the press, online and through trustee 

recruitment organisations, as well as on the CARE International UK website. The Ethics and 

People Committee selects potential new members of the Board who are then approved by 

the Board before appointment. 

In 2019/20 the committee structure was reviewed: the terms of reference for the Ethics and 

Risk Committee were amended to create the Ethics and People Committee incorporating the 

former Nominations and Remuneration Committee; and the Risk Framework developed 

during 2020 clearly assigns oversight of specific risk areas to committees. 

Members of the Board and committees serve for a three-year period and may be re-elected 

for normally one and a maximum of two further three-year terms. A formal induction process 

is followed for new Board and committee members. None of the members of the Board 

received any remuneration for their work as trustees. Reasonable expenses are covered, to 

ensure there are no socio-economic barriers to being a trustee.   

Following the Board’s self-assessment against the recommendations of the Charity 

Governance Code for larger charities (published in July 2018 and refreshed in November 

2020) the Ethics and People Committee agreed that the Board met the recommendations of 

the code but needed to focus on diversity. Recruitment of new trustees has been used to 

address this, improving the diversity of our Board. 

The key management personnel of the Charity are the Senior Management Team (as listed 

under Organisational Details on page 82). The remuneration of the Chief Executive is set by 

the Ethics and People Committee, and the remuneration of the Senior Management Team is 

set by the same committee in consultation with the Chief Executive. 
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Trustees’ responsibilities statement  

The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Annual Report including the Strategic Report 

and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. Financial 

statements are published on the charity’s website in accordance with legislation in the United 

Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may 

vary from legislation in other jurisdictions.  The maintenance and integrity of the charity’s 

website is the responsibility of the trustees.  The trustees’ responsibility also extends to the 

ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein. 

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year in 

accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Trustees must not 

approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 

of the state of affairs of the group and charity and of the incoming resources and application 

of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charity for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to 

any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 

to presume that the charity will continue in business. 

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 

show and explain the charity’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 

time the financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure that the financial 

statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for 

safeguarding the assets of the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Financial statements are published on the charity’s website in accordance with legislation in 

the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, 

which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions.  The maintenance and integrity of the 

charity’s website is the responsibility of the trustees.  The Trustees’ responsibility also 

extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein. 

  



   
 

38 
 

Disclosure of information to auditors  

In the case of each of the persons who are Trustee Directors of the company at the date 

when this report was approved:  

 So far as each of the Trustee Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the company's auditors 
are unaware, and  
 

 Each of the Trustee Directors has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken 
as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information (as 
defined) and to establish that the company's auditors are aware of that information. 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the 
provisions of S418 of the Companies Act 2006.  

 

Internal controls 

The trustees have overall responsibility for ensuring that the Charity has an appropriate 

system of control, financial and otherwise. They are responsible for keeping proper 

accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 

position of the Charity and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 

the Companies Act 2006. 

The systems of internal control are designed to provide assurance against material 

misstatement or loss. They include: 

• strategic plan and budgets approved by the Board 
• regular monitoring of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and progress against 

the strategic plan 
• quarterly consideration by the Board of financial performance and variance from 

budgets; scenario planning in response to external drivers of uncertainty 
• the use of committees in meeting their duties and delegating certain functions of 

the Board 
• appropriate identification, management and reporting of risks 
• implementation of key policies and procedures 
• structured delegated and financial authorities which are signed off by the Board 
• internal auditing, carried out in accordance with the Audit Charter, encompassing 

overseas projects and UK processes and procedures 

Trustees continue to review the adequacy of the Charity’s internal control systems with the 

Senior Management Team. This is undertaken quarterly as part of the Risk Assurance 

Framework which distinguishes between 11 main risk areas. Each risk area has a dedicated 

risk owner and a Board committee responsible for its oversight. As part of the risk review, 

the trustees consider whether the controls in place are sufficient for the organisational 

purposes. 

In accordance with the Audit Charter, a risk-based internal audit approach is taken, and the 

annual audit plan is approved by the Finance and Audit Committee. However, during 2020 

delivery of the full internal audit plan was significantly limited by the COVID-19 pandemic.  

In the view of the Board, internal audit is sufficiently independent with unrestricted access to 

the Finance and Audit Committee and the Board of CARE International UK. 
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Following the work to reconcile a backlog of historical balances on previously completed 

projects, we are improving financial controls to ensure that accounting for all active projects 

is fully up-to-date and that the accounting for finished projects is completed promptly.  

The Board believes that the charity’s other internal controls are adequate and meet with 

guidelines issued by the Charity Commission. The Board recognises that continuing to 

develop and strengthen CARE’s internal controls is a key priority moving forward and has 

ensured that the resources and expertise are in place to do so. 

Principal risks  

CARE International UK recognises the risks that we face due to the nature and context of 

our work. The Board of Trustees, as the ultimate risk owner, has a Risk Management Policy 

and an established risk management process.  

Strategic risks are reviewed and discussed quarterly by the Senior Management Team’s 

Risk Management Committee. The Senior Management Team is responsible for the 

management of the key risks and ensuring effective mitigation is in place. CARE 

International UK uses recognised risk management protocols and standards assessing 

financial, operational, regulatory, external, and strategic risks. 

During 2020, we have strengthened our risk management through the development of a Risk 

Assurance Framework that differentiates between 11 distinct risk areas. Each risk area is 

managed by a risk owner and overseen by a Board committee. These risk areas are 

reviewed quarterly at the Risk Management Committee meetings, and reports prepared for 

the relevant Board committees. The Board sets the charity’s Risk Appetite in these key risk 

areas.  

The significant risks for CARE International UK, as well as for the broader charity and 

development sector, stem directly or indirectly from the outbreak of a global pandemic, and 

the associated economic downturn. These risks and the Board’s plans to manage those 

risks are summarised below: 

 

Identified risk Measures in place to manage the risks 

COVID-19:  
Impacted teams and staff particularly 
those working in programme 
implementation and operations have 
been impacted by lockdowns in many 
parts of the world.  
 
Movement restrictions have heightened 
the risk to delivery, the risk to do no 
harm, and, the nature of protection and 
safeguarding.  
 
Lack of specific humanitarian funding 
for impacts of COVID-19.  
 

 Project extensions sought to allow adjustments 
in programming.  

 Programme adjustments and adaptations made 
to minimise financial risk impact on outcomes. 

 New funding sources sought. 

 New procedure to hold bi-weekly safeguarding 
meetings instituted with action plans confirmed 
between teams. 

 Strengthening of safeguarding reporting and 
management protocols. 

 Close co-operation with global CARE 
safeguarding networks on harmonisation and 
streamlining. 

 Programme Management Team working on 
alternative income generating methods in-
country. 

 

Financial sustainability: 
Challenged by the global pandemic and 
subsequent economic downturn.  
 

 Programmes have been adapted to mitigate 
impact on income. 

 Careful monitoring of fundraising market and 
CIUK financial performance. 
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Our reserves are at the lower end of 
usual target levels which means that 
we are less resilient to further financial 
shocks. 
 

 Clear plans to rebuild reserves in the medium-
term.  

 Part of the supportive wider global CARE 
Confederation giving us access to a revolving 
fund up to £0.4m to assist with cashflow. 

 Relationship building, advocacy and influencing 
FCDO priorities.  

 

Changes in the UK political 
environment: 
The creation of FCDO and the 
indefinite cut to the 0.7% GNI aid 
commitment. 
 
The government has signalled its 
intention to change how UK Aid is 
spent which may affect CIUK alignment 
with government funding priorities. 
 

 We work closely with other charities, MPS and 
Peers of all parties to campaign for restoration of 
the 0.7% commitment.  

 Ongoing campaigning work to widen public and 
political support for aid funding to be targeted at 
poorest people and communities. 

 

 
Working in high-risk environments: 
Increases our financial and operational 
risks including: disruptions in 
programming; loss of access; delays in 
activities; loss of project 
documentation, and physical threat. 
 
In some countries financial sanctions 
apply. 
 

 

 Due diligence on implementing partners. 

 Systematic anti-terrorist checks on all suppliers 
and partners. 

 Situation monitoring in conflict areas and for 
incidents. 

 Co-operation with country offices to support 
donor advocacy and mitigate impact on 
programme delivery. 

 Adjustments to financial budgets and forecasts 
following specific incidents.  

 
 
CARE Confederation members under 
increased financial stress: 
COVID-19 has placed some members 
under increased financial pressure. 
 
One part of CARE may not be able to 
fulfil mutual accountability agreements 
with possible impacts on all CARE 
members.  

 Frequent co-ordination meetings between 
finance and national directors across CARE 
Confederation with shared KPIs and projections. 

 Crisis events communications team working 
across the Confederation with existing and new 
members. 

 

Serious incidents  

CARE International has global policies on Anti-Fraud and Corruption and Protection from 

Sexual Exploitation and Abuse and Child Protection, which apply to all CARE members and 

operations. We have a Serious Incident Reporting protocol agreed with the UK Board.  

The Anti-Fraud and Corruption policy requires all incidents or allegations of fraud, loss and 

bribery to be reported to donors and the Finance and Audit Committee, regardless of 

financial materiality and ensures a consistent approach to fraud awareness, prevention, 

reporting and investigations across the confederation. In addition to the preventative 

measures, anti-fraud, corruption and bribery controls are reviewed by internal audit. All UK 

staff are required to complete online anti-fraud training, reinforced through refresher training 

including during Charity Fraud Awareness week. 
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Despite our enhanced approach to fraud prevention, the reality is that from time to time we 

will be victims of fraud. During the year, 42 suspicions of fraud were reported (2019: 33 fraud 

reports) and investigated of which 7 were found to be unsubstantiated, 29 were 

substantiated, and 6 are under investigation. Upon investigation, none of these incidents 

were found to be serious incidences in accordance with Charity Commission definitions. All 

but two of the incident reports came from programme offices, and two-thirds relate to local 

partners. These include incidents of corruption at community committees, theft, falsification 

of expenses by staff, inflated procurement and collusion by staff with vendors, and false 

beneficiary information. One of the two incident reports related to an attempted withdrawal of 

funds from one of our UK web platforms which was successfully prevented and the other (via 

the same platform) relates to micro finance loans provided via our partner in Vietnam. In total 

the cost of matters related to fraud and losses after recovered amounts was nil (2019: nil).  

In addition, in 2021, we have submitted reports of serious incidents to the Charity 
Commission regarding our drop in income from UK official development assistance and the 
delay to these 2020 accounts. The Charity Commission have responded that they are 
assured that the trustees are dealing with the matters appropriately and responsibly. 

CARE continues to provide training on safeguarding to staff across the confederation, 

emphasising the importance of reporting and whistleblowing. CARE has a zero-tolerance 

approach to safeguarding and protection, and consequently investigates all concerns raised.  

Serious incidents have been reported to the relevant donors and UK bodies, including the 

Charity Commission, as appropriate, and in accordance with the CARE International UK 

Serious Incident Reporting protocol. 

Safeguarding 

As an organisation that champions the rights of women and girls, CARE recognises the 

responsibility we have to protect the people we work with. CARE UK continues to be fully 

compliant with all safeguarding standards and continues to work in the UK and overseas to 

raise standards and protect staff and beneficiaries, including by addressing power 

imbalances that make abuse possible.  

Over the last year the confederation has come together to review and update our 

safeguarding policy, to check compliance with legal requirements globally and to consider 

what more we can do to protect people.  This was rolled out in the spring and all parts of the 

confederation are working together to ensure tighter standards are rolled out globally.   

In the UK office we have made considerable progress on recruitment practices this year.  All 

jobs advertised are clear about the safeguarding checks we do and we ask questions to 

ensure applicants understanding and attitude toward safeguarding are in line with our 

values.   

We are particularly proud that this year we have signed up to and rolled out the Inter-Agency 

Scheme for the Disclosure of Safeguarding-related Misconduct in Recruitment Process 

within the Humanitarian and Development Sector (Misconduct Disclosure Scheme). This has 

been designed to address the specific issue of sexual predators using their positions in 

international NGOs to exploit vulnerable people. The scheme sets minimum standards for 

sharing information about people who have been found to have committed sexual 

harassment. The Misconduct Disclosure Scheme has been rolled out at since CIUK since 

April 2020.  All reference checks since then are done in line with the Scheme. 
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Our human resources team, union reps, and staff reps have been collaborating on 

improvements to our processes for raising staff awareness about issues of bullying and 

harassment. This group created clear interactive flowchart to show the options and process 

for raising concerns. Our Gender Equity and Diversity training also helps educate staff on 

the underlying causes of abuse – including power imbalances and prejudice – and thus 

helps to prevent abuses.  

We include statements on our website and in recruitment packs noting that applicants will be 

screened for sexual harassment, exploitation, abuse, and child protection offences. 

Questions on safeguarding are included in all job interviews and a question on safeguarding 

issues is asked in all reference checks, including for trustees.  

This year we have also been working across the CARE confederation to assess the interplay 

of the project cycle with the safeguarding policy. Across the confederation safeguarding leads 

are looking at what changes can be made to the project cycle to ensure that programme design 

takes better account of a range of vulnerabilities of our beneficiaries and what preventive 

action we can take to protect and support them. As part of this CARE UK has designed 

safeguarding questions as part of project audits to ensure strong compliance and continued 

lesson learning.  

CARE has a reporting system in place that enables reports to be anonymously made in over 

100 languages. We recognise that building trust in mechanisms for raising concerns is key to 

ensuring survivors feel confident their complaints will be treated confidentially and 

appropriately, and that action will be taken to address any wrongdoing.  

Transparency is one of the ways to assure survivors that reporting will make a difference, and 

publishing figures is one way of being transparent.  CARE is clear about the standards that 

people who work with us can expect, then sets up systems to ensure we receive feedback on 

if those standards are being met.  Trust is only built by listening to and responding to feedback 

and taking action on complaints.  This year, CARE UK has been working in partnership with 

the confederation on beneficiary feedback mechanisms.  Important for many reasons, but work 

has focused on how these mechanisms can be most sensitive to safeguarding concerns in a 

project context.   

The CARE International Confederation holds itself and all members accountable for its 
conduct and publishes safeguarding figures.  In February 2020, CARE International published 
global reporting figures: In 2019, a total of 11,507 people worked for CARE across 100 
countries. During this period, CARE received 58 complaints of sexual misconduct allegedly 
committed by CARE staff or related personnel (i.e. partner staff, consultants, and contractors): 
33 complaints were about sexual misconduct towards programme participants or community 
members; 25 were complaints of sexual misconduct of CARE staff toward other CARE 
colleagues and related personnel. For further details about the 2019 figures, including 
investigations and actions taken, see the CARE International: Sexual Harassment, 
Exploitation and Abuse Transparency Report  
 

CARE will continue to publish these figures on an annual basis, and the latest figures, as well 

as further information about our safeguarding policies and procedures, is available on the 

safeguarding page of our website.  

Equal opportunities policy 

CARE International UK is an equal opportunities employer and applies objective criteria to 

assess merit. It aims to ensure that no job applicant or employee receives less favourable 

treatment on the grounds of age, race, colour, nationality, religion, ethnic or national origin, 

https://www.care-international.org/news/press-releases/care-international-sexual-harassment-exploitation-and-abuse-transparency-report-2019
https://www.care-international.org/news/press-releases/care-international-sexual-harassment-exploitation-and-abuse-transparency-report-2019
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gender, marital status, sexual orientation or disability. Selection criteria and procedures are 

in place to ensure that individuals are selected, promoted and treated on the basis of their 

relevant abilities and merits. 

Diversity and Inclusion 

At CARE, the starting point for all our work is our belief that poverty is caused by unequal 

power relations that result in the inequitable distribution of resources and opportunities 

between women and men, between power-holders and marginalised communities, and 

between countries. We believe that poverty cannot be overcome without addressing those 

underlying power imbalances. It is CARE’s mission to work alongside people and 

communities around the world to remove those power imbalances, in order to achieve social 

justice and thereby end poverty. This will be at the heart of our strategy review during 

2020/2021.  

We recognise that CARE is not a specialised anti-racism organisation. We therefore want to 

be thoughtful about how we can be a true ally of others who are leading the anti-racism 

movement. We know that we need to work both to be a non-racist organisation and an anti-

racist organisation. 

At CARE International UK, for the past two years, our diversity team – made up of staff from 

all levels of the organisation, including our CEO – has been challenging and pushing us to 

become a more diverse and inclusive organisation, based on an audit in 2018. Since then 

we have carried out an ethnicity pay review, established new diversity targets, added 

statements into new job descriptions and incorporated gender, equity and diversity questions 

included in all recruitment interviews. We now have a more diverse Board of Trustees and 

this year we have started providing unconscious bias training to all our staff.  

We continue to deliver on the action plan coming out of a comprehensive review of 

workplace culture (2019) including an inclusive process to agree new organisation values.   

Modern Slavery statement 

We continue to monitor compliance with the Modern Slavery Act, and the broader issue of 

modern slavery, across the following areas: 

• procurement, both UK-based and international 
• selection of programme partners 
• HR policies and procedures 
• fundraising and communications. 

We have supported changes to policies and procedures, incorporating the risks relating to 

modern slavery. 

CARE successfully campaigned for the International Labour Organization convention to end 

violence and harassment in the world of work, which was passed in July 2019. We believe 

the convention will help address issues of modern slavery in supply chains. 

Fundraising statement  

CARE International UK seeks to maintain the highest possible standards in our fundraising 

and engagement activities and will never take the kindness and generosity of the British 

public for granted. Individual supporters who have chosen to support our work – either 

through single or regular donations, campaigning, participating in fundraising events, 

responding to an emergency appeal, or giving a loan to an entrepreneur through our 

Lendwithcare.org website – all make it possible for us to continue to save lives, support 
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women and girls and to be there for the world’s most vulnerable people. We are grateful to 

them every day and strive to keep earning their trust and their support by providing the 

highest standards of service and supporter experience. 

CARE International UK continues to be registered with the Fundraising Regulator and is an 

Organisational Member of the Institute of Fundraising. We adhere to the Code of 

Fundraising Practice across all public engagement and fundraising activities and continue to 

engage with both regulatory bodies to ensure all our fundraising activities are compliant and 

following best practice. 

We have continued to review and update our consent and privacy policies in order to stay 

fully compliant with the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). It is important that our 

supporters are happy with how we communicate with them, that they understand when there 

is a legitimate interest for us to do so, and that they are clear on what we do and don’t do 

with their personal information. 

We have continued to work closely with professional fundraising and marketing agencies 

over the last year, who have supported and helped to deliver our fundraising activities over 

the year. We always undertake a rigorous due diligence and tender process before starting 

to work with any suppliers and have strict contracts in place with existing suppliers, which 

include clauses on GDPR, CARE’s own vulnerable contacts policy, human trafficking laws, 

and the Modern Slavery Act. Close monitoring of all fundraising and marketing campaigns is 

essential, including regular spot checks and mystery shopping, as it is very important to us 

that the agencies with which we work meet the high standards we set for ourselves. 

We continue to be immensely proud of the stewardship service provided by our dedicated 

Supporter Care team, who are the first point of engagement the British public will have with 

CARE International UK. During 2019/20 our fundraising and engagement activities reached 

TV, online and print audiences and also included door-to-door fundraising. During 2019/20 a 

total of five complaints were received, which is a reduction of 75% from the previous year. 

We continue to treat all complaints seriously and ensure they are thoroughly investigated 

and responded to. 

Statement of Public Benefit 

The trustees confirm that they have complied with the duty in the Charities Act 2011 to have 

due regard to the Charity Commission’s general guidance on public benefit, ‘Charities and 

Public Benefit’. That guidance addresses the need for all charities’ aims to be, demonstrably, 

for the public benefit. The objects of the Company, as set out in the Articles of Association, 

are to relieve poverty and sickness, to promote the preservation and protection of health and 

to advance education among the world’s poor. CARE International UK’s approach to fighting 

poverty in our outcome areas (humanitarian response; women’s economic empowerment; 

maternal and child health; food and nutrition) through a focus on gender equality, inclusive 

governance and resilience and by advocating on behalf of the poorest and most vulnerable 

people, allows us to meet directly the following criteria for public benefit as defined by the 

Charity Commission guidance: 

• the prevention or relief of poverty 
• the advancement of human rights, conflict resolution or reconciliation or the 

promotion of religious or racial harmony or equality and diversity 
• the relief of those in need, by reason of gender, age, ill-health, disability, financial 

hardship or other disadvantage 
• the advancement of health and the saving of lives 
• the advancement of education 
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• the advancement of environmental protection or improvement. 

We are clear in our aims and objectives and adhere to codes of governance which reach 

across the wider humanitarian sector, including the Sphere Handbook (a set of principles 

and standards agreed by the major humanitarian organisations, including CARE), the Red 

Cross code of conduct, and the Core Humanitarian Standards on Quality and Accountability 

(CHS). CARE federation is now externally verified against the Core Humanitarian Standard, 

following an external audit by the Humanitarian Quality Assurance Initiative in early 2020. 

Our approach is to listen to the people we work for and take great care to ‘do no harm’. We 

aim to help the poorest and most marginalised members of society, and no person is 

excluded on the grounds of race, religion, gender, sexual orientation, or social position. 

 

 

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) statement 

UK office facilities 

We have calculated our emissions below for our electricity use in our UK office. The figures 

below show a reduction of 7.84 tonnes CO2 equivalent in the past year. The electricity to 

supply our office is generated from 100% renewable resources. 

UK Energy Use  FY19 FY20 

Electricity  108,596 kWh 91,567 kWh 

Associated greenhouse 
gas emission (tonnes CO2 
equivalent) 

28.99 
tonnes 

21.15 
tonnes 

CO2 intensity equivalent 
per kWh 

 

0.267 kg 
CO2 

0.23104 kg 
CO2 

Methodology: We collect electricity emissions from our supplier bills. CO2 associated 

greenhouse gases have been calculated using UK Government GHG conversion factors. 

Note: We are unable to calculate gas usage which is part of a communal service charge. 

Flight emissions 

We have reduced our total CO2 emissions (TCO2) including radiative forcing (RF) by 122 

tonnes since the last financial year, this equates to just under 1 tonne per capita reduction. 

 FY19 FY20 

Flights TCO2 inc RF  340 217.88 

Flights TCO2 per capita  120 staff 
2.83 tonnes 

118 staff 
1.85 tonnes 

 

Energy efficient actions 

We have focused on three areas of activity related to the reduction of greenhouses gases for 

all flights, office energy use and supporting a low carbon and climate sensitive work culture. 

Staff have been encouraged to avoid any non-essential travel through more use of 

technology but where essential using greener flight choices. During FY21 we will be 

assessing and designing options for future emission reductions and offsets for emissions. 

Once that is ready, we expect to be able to offset our emissions where we cannot reduce 
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them through credible carbon offset projects that have high social impact and environmental 

integrity. During the year we organised initiatives raising the standards of individual staff 

awareness, knowledge, practice and behaviour regarding our impact on the environment. All 

staff have been working remotely for the last quarter of the financial year. 

Everyone who represents CARE International UK signs our Code of Conduct confirming they 

will demonstrate their commitment to reducing our environmental impact. CARE International 

UK contributes to the CARE International Global Climate Smart Report in terms of the action 

taken to reduce emissions, and to further CARE’s global efforts to become a climate smart 

organisation. In the office, we use energy-efficient lighting, equipment and motion sensors, 

with equipment set to energy-saving modes and shut-down out of hours. We purchase 

energy star IT and other equipment. 

Compliance with Trustees’ Duties under section 172 Companies Act 2006 

Trustees must act in a way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the 

success of CARE to achieve its charitable purposes. The governing body of the Charity is 

the Board of Trustees who delegate day to day management and decision making to the 

Chief Executive and other members of the Senior Management Team, whose responsibility 

is to ensure that the Charity’s activities are carried out in compliance with agreed plans and 

policies. Details of the structure and activities of the Board and its standing committees are 

provided above (page 36). 

The Board considers the following to be the key decisions and considerations it has made 

during the year to 30 June 2020: 

Significant event/decision:  
s172 matter affected: 

 
Action and impact: 

The Board approved a 
nuanced FY21 and FY22 
budget approach for a starting 
budget to be finalised 
depending on the funding 
plans of FCDO when 
available. 
 

Funders, staff, supporters and 
beneficiaries. 

Working to a starting budget 
enabled staff planning and 
activity for the year to begin 
promptly and to address as 
much uncertainty as possible 
at the time. Enabled 
management to develop 
potential scenarios in 
anticipation of significant 
funding change. 
 
Confirmation of the FCDO 
pipeline enabled resources to 
be planned in accordance with 
availability and funder 
priorities.  
 

The Board approved a three 
year commitment to 
March4Women as a flagship 
event. 
 

Staff and supporters. Fundraising staff enabled to 
build on the event by 
increasing direct supporter 
engagement.  
 
Continuing to support staff in 
developing specific outcomes 
and logistics.  
 

The Board invited members of 
the Culture Staff Steering 
Group to future Board, Ethics 
and People Committee 

Staff. Staff across CIUK are 
consulted and represented in 
key discussions regarding the 
culture at CARE.  
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meetings where culture is 
discussed.  

 

 

 

In carrying out their duties the trustees have regard, amongst other matters, to: 

The likely consequences of any decision in the long term 

The scope of our vision and strategic goals are summarised on page 2. Optimising our 

support to poor and marginalised people and communities to overcome injustice and tackle 

poverty is the desired outcome of our operations. Consideration of sustainability and the 

long-term consequences of strategic proposals is part of the Board’s decision-making 

process. External circumstances sometimes change and if necessary, we adapt our plans to 

respond to changing needs. 

The interests of the charity’s employees 

Our people and culture are vital to the successful delivery of our strategic goals. CARE 

embraces diversity and inclusiveness within our organisation. Our diversity team – made up 

of staff from all levels, including our CEO (Chief Executive Officer) – has actively promoted 

improvements in the way we operate internally. The membership of the Board of Trustees 

reflects this emphasis. 

We initiated a cost reduction programme this year to mitigate the cash flow impacts of 

COVID-19, this resulted in furlough but avoided redundancies. This process was 

consultative, transparent and mindful of staff welfare. 

The need to foster the charity’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and 

others 

We identify the following as the key stakeholders with whom we foster ongoing relationships: 

• Foreign & Commonwealth Development Office (FCDO) 

• Private sector potential and existing partners (not whole private sector) 

• British public potential and existing supporters (not whole British public) 

During 2020, we have developed a new strategy for Fundraising, Partnerships and 

Communications. This has included a thorough review by the Board, Finance and Audit 

Committee and a Trustee Fundraising Working Group, of our partnerships with private 

companies and the UK general public. More details of our approach to public fundraising are 

in the Fundraising statement on page 43. 

Our private sector partners have strongly invested in CARE’s response to COVID-19 in 

2020, and we continue to work very closely with FCDO. 

The UK Government funding risk is assessed with mitigating actions taken as a Principal 

Risk (see page 39). 

Quarterly reports to the Finance and Audit Committee include Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs) on key stakeholders. 

 

 



   
 

48 
 

The impact of the charity’s operations on the community and the environment 

CARE works closely with communities at all levels, as described throughout this report. Our 

approach is to listen to the people we work for and take great care to ‘do no harm’. Our 

emphasis is supporting communities to develop resilience to disasters and sustainable 

approaches to combat poverty. CARE uses a Community Score Card tool to help identify the 

priority issues and solutions appropriate to the communities with which we engage. CARE is 

clear about the standards that people who work with us can expect. We have reporting 

mechanisms in place to protect participants and communities from misconduct and to 

provide feedback on whether our standards are being met. More information is given in the 

Safeguarding section (page 41).  

Our Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) statement is included in this report 

(page 45). Operationally our “do no harm” principles apply to environmental safeguarding. 

The desirability of the charity maintaining a reputation for high standards of business 

conduct 

We espouse the values we wish to influence, support and sustain in our CARE programmes 

in our engagement with our own donors, suppliers, partners and other stakeholders. Our 

reputation and credibility are vital to the successful delivery both of our strategic goals and 

our day-to-day activities. 

The need to act fairly as between members of the charity  

The Trustees are the only members of the Charity, and their responsibilities relate to the 

objects of the Charity. The Charity is run to achieve its charitable purposes and not in the 

interests of its members. Issues of fairness between the members do not arise. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW  

The financial statements of the Charity, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have 
been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out on pages 60-65 and 
comply with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) [Charities SORP 
(FRS102)] and the Charities Act 2011  and Companies Act 2006. 

Results in overview 

Total income was £73.9m (2019: £65.1m), of which £62.4 m (2019: £54.6m) was restricted 
to international programmes. This improvement is mainly due to an increase in grant funding 
and programme activities compared to 2018/19 (financial year 2019). At the end of 2019/20 
(financial year 2020) we carried forward £15.2m of restricted funds for multi-year grants 
(2019: £12.6m). These figures are net of both positive and negative restricted funds. Where 
negative funds are carried forward, they relate to expenditure incurred in advance of income 
and the Trustees have satisfied themselves that funding will be received in the future. 

In 2020 we continued to face the challenges of securing new programme funding, in 
particular from our largest institutional donors: the European Union (due to eligibility for EU 
funding) and DFID (as a result of delays or cancellations in several external procurement 
decisions). We have made good progress on diversifying funding sources but recognise that 
this will not be at a scale to replace programme funding from our largest donors. 

Our biggest challenge in the second half of 2019/2020 was the COVID-19 pandemic. As well 
as ensuring the safety of our staff and business continuity, our financial response has been 
to assess key income streams against external drivers of uncertainty to create risk-based 
scenarios. Those drivers include: 

- ability to implement programmes due to COVID-19 restrictions, including donor 
response to proposed adaptions 

- availability of new funding opportunities given changes in UK government and the 
creation of FCDO 

- UK economic context and impact on Corporate and individual donors 

In the final quarter of 2019/2020, we took proactive steps to manage costs and mitigate the 
impact of COVID-19. In particular, we:  

- worked proactively with CARE Country Offices and partners to adapt programmes 
- delayed some activities to reduce unrestricted costs including a management pay cut 

and delaying recruitment  
- furloughed 25% of our staff, claiming £0.1m from the UK government in the year to 

30 June 2020 
- launched a COVID-19 public appeal and submitted funding proposals to a wide 

range of corporate and institutional partners, and trusts and foundations, to contribute 
to CARE’s global response to the pandemic. 

Total expenditure was £71.1m (2019: £66.9m), of which spend on international programmes 
was £59.7m (2019: £55.3m) with 73% of our charitable expenditure on humanitarian 
programmes (2019: 72%), reflecting our continued response in this area. The breakdown of 
programme expenditure by major programme area is shown in Note 4 to the accounts. 

We spent £3.8m to generate £10.4m from donations and legacies from corporate partners 
and individuals (2019: £4.5m to generate £11.4m). We continued to support the Disasters 
Emergency Committee (DEC) through campaigns and deploying communications staff, 
receiving funding of £0.4m (2019: £0.9m) from DEC appeals. 
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In setting our operating budget for the 2020/21 financial year, we have ensured we maintain 
capacity to position ourselves for new partnerships and donors, and to provide high quality 
technical support to CARE programmes. We continue to monitor fundraising performance 
against a challenging external environment and have committed to increase investment in 
income growth (especially from new individual donors) when the fundraising climate 
improves. We have developed a response to our potential worst-case scenario and continue 
to monitor performance against the drivers of uncertainty so that we are able to quickly 
respond in the event that one or more income stream moves from budgeted scenario to 
worst case, we are able to take action. 

Historical adjustments  

During 2020, we have advanced clearing a backlog of accounting for finished projects. As 

part of this process, we have adjusted some historical balances on funds which were in 

deficit or are not recoverable.  The overall impact of these adjustments made to our 

unrestricted reserves in 2019/20 and which were not considered to be material is £1.1m.  

These adjustments in no way affect the projects themselves, which delivered the assistance 

they were meant to give. Nor does it affect donors who have funded these projects and who 

have signed off on the programmatic results and financial reports of these completed 

projects. Most of the adjustments had little impact on overall restricted reserves but in some 

cases, it has required CARE International UK to adjust some balances which were 

overstated, or which are not recoverable, to unrestricted funds.   

Below, we set out the financial risks this creates for CARE International UK, the impact on 

reserves and the remedial action we are taking through our 2021/22 budget to manage 

costs. We have also set out above in the Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement (see p.37) the 

improvements we are making to financial controls including to project closure and grant 

accounting to ensure this issue does not reoccur.   

Financial risk 

The Charity’s unrestricted income remains sensitive to the external pressures on charity 
giving; to pipelines of funding for CARE programmes from existing and new donors; and to 
the timely delivery of programmes in challenging humanitarian contexts. 

With lower than desirable free unrestricted reserves, we recognise the need to rebuild them. 
We will do so over the medium term given the inherent challenges of the COVID-19 
pandemic and the changing donor environment in the UK. During that time, our resilience to 
further financial shocks is more limited. However, as part of a supportive wider global CARE 
Confederation, we remain confident that we can manage our way through our current 
financial challenges.  

We continue to work with the financial risk of managing multiple donor funds and 
programmes overseas including the requirement to monitor and ensure that programmes are 
closed efficiently. Programmes that are not closed efficiently may result in repayments, 
clawbacks or settlements with Care Partners in excess of amounts received. This risk is 
managed through the system of internal control and by regular reporting to the Board and 
Senior Management Team. 

While CIUK’s total cash position for both restricted and unrestricted cash increased during 
2020 (cash and cash equivalents held at year- end were £19.7m compared to £13.5m at the 
end of 2019), cash flow risks have increased. We are managing funding flows from donors to 
country programmes as well as our cash flow for our operating costs. We are reviewing the 
impact on our cash position of the timing of receipt of programme funds as donor terms 
move increasingly to payment in arrears or quarterly advances, to ensure we continue to be 
able to meet our commitments to CARE country offices and local partners. We recognise 
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that providing programme funds in advance of receiving funds from the donor has an impact 
on our short-term cash flow and hold an overdraft facility of £0.5m to ensure we can continue 
to meet our programme and operating commitments. We have not had to use this overdraft 
in 2020 but we may need to do so in the future.  

Exposure to foreign exchange risk arising from funding in Euros or US dollars is managed by 
holding restricted donor funds in that currency until transferred to the relevant country 
operation. 

We monitor these risks closely through the Senior Management Team and Finance and 
Audit Committee. 

Reserves Policy  

The Charity held a number of funds as at 30 June 2020 and which comprise our reserves: 

 Total reserves as at 30 June 2020 were £17.0m (2019: £14.3m)  
 Restricted reserves as at 30 June 2020 were £15.2m (2019: £12.5m), being 

programme funding received from donors and held at year end to be spent on 
specific programmes in future years 

 Unrestricted reserves were £1.8m (2019: £1.7m) of which £1.4m were unrestricted 
free reserves (2019: £1.2m) 

Unrestricted free reserves do not include fixed assets (2020: £0.4m, 2019: £0.5m). However 
fixed assets which can be liquidated in the event of an orderly wind up, can be used to 
reduce the calculated cost of a potential wind up and therefore the minimum level of 
reserves. 

Reserves are held to ensure continuity of the Charity’s ongoing and future activities, 
including: 

 protection against fluctuations in income, particularly year to year changes in the 
portfolio of donor-funded programmes 

 mitigation against the financial risks arising from the changing nature of aid, 
especially the movement towards payments by results in both grants and contracts 

 investment in innovation to support CARE’s strategic objectives 
 to enable the orderly cessation of activities should it ever be required. 

  

All charities are required to consider how much they need to hold in reserves. The extent 
varies depending on the scale and nature of the charity’s activities.  

Based on a downturn of income in 2021 and the impact on the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic 
we will show a deficit in our FY21 accounts, subject to audit, despite continuing reductions in 
unrestricted expenditure. This will further reduce our effective free unrestricted reserves to 
£1.0m at the end of June 2021. 

Following the annual review of the Reserves Policy, The Trustees calculate the amount that 
is required to be held in target reserves based on the assessment of the risks affecting the 
income and expenditure of the charity on an annual basis. The Trustees agreed that CARE 
International UK will rebuild reserves to our typical target level of £1.5 - £2.0m over the 
medium term starting in FY22. We will achieve this target by further reducing our 
unrestricted expenditure in FY22 and over the following two years in addition to 
implementing our new Fundraising strategy to increase income, to deliver a surplus each 
year.   
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With regard to restricted reserves, the £15.2m balance at the end of 2020 represents just 
under three months average programme spending, which is consistent with the size of the 
current programme portfolio and donor pre-financing terms. 

 

The financial impact of COVID-19 and Going Concern 

COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the income of CARE International UK in 2021/22 
because of the reduction in UK government official development assistance as a result of the 
economic impacts of dealing with the pandemic. This reduction in income combined with our 
limited reserves presents a challenging financial environment for CARE International UK.  

  
In assessing whether it is appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis, the 
Trustees have taken account of the current level of unrestricted reserves and cash, and the 
challenging external funding environment as described above. On 15 February 2022 the 
charity had £1.2M of unrestricted cash.  Given these challenges, Trustees have carefully 
evaluated two important factors relating to the forecast period to 31 March 2023 as follows:  
  

 the availability of working capital facilities including cash, overdraft, offset facilities 
and the indication of financial support from other parts of CARE; and 

 the ability of the charity to avoid variable expenditure in the event that unrestricted 
income does not achieve forecast levels or the timing of income receipts is delayed.  

  
 
During the next year and going forward, we will manage cash flows very carefully. In 
particular we are conscious that providing programme funds in advance of receiving funds 
from the donor has an impact on our short-term cash flow.  The charity also has access to 
several facilities to assist with Unrestricted and Restricted cashflows.  We pay for an 
offsetting facility at our bank which allows negative accounts balances to be notionally offset 
against positive account balances, and only incur overdraft interest charges on net negative 
balances. We hold an overdraft facility of £0.5m which can be used to meet unrestricted or 
restricted cash flow needs. Discussions with our bank indicate that these facilities will be 
available throughout the forecast period. These facilities are subject to a one month notice 
period and are reviewed annually with our bank on the basis of audited accounts and 
financial forecasts.  In addition, we are also able to borrow at least €0.6m at 0.25% interest 
against a revolving fund maintained by the wider global CARE Confederation (based on 30% 
of total fund value as of 31 December 2021). This loan can be used to mitigate restricted 
cash flow pressures relating to funding paid in arrears for specific programmes.  We have 
also discussed with CARE USA and they would be able in principle to support short or 
medium term cash-flow needs if required, subject to approval by the CARE USA Board at a 
point in the future. The budgetary and cash flow positions are reported regularly to the 
Executive Team and the Board to ensure timely decisions can be made regarding the 
continuing operations of the organisation.  

 
We have taken prompt action and identified one off and longer-term savings of around £1M 
in 2020/21 and £1.5m in 2021/22 by reducing headcount and our underlying cost base. We 
have also taken advantage where relevant, of Government schemes including claiming 
furlough for staff of £0.1m FY20 (2019: £nil) unable to fulfil their duties. Some of our savings 
will be reinvested in increased fundraising under a new strategy approved in December 
2020, with positive early results. Detailed fundraising plans have been approved by the 
Board and are being closely monitored. Other elements of the savings will begin to increase 
our unrestricted reserves to meet our minimum reserves level whilst a further portion of the 
savings are required due to the reduction in income forecast in 2021/22 from UK government 
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funding. From 2022/23 onwards, we are forecasting increased income again as our 
fundraising strategy begins to pay off. We have also further stress tested our assumptions 
for the coming months up to March 2023 to ensure that we have fully understood the 
potential financial impacts of any further changes in circumstances. 

  
However, should we be in a position where we need to reduce costs in the coming 12 
months, Trustees would do so. At the present time, non-personnel variable costs represent 
31% of forecast unrestricted expenditure. Given the inherent uncertainties associated with 
certain forms of fundraising, the charity may need to defer some variable expenditure in 
order to ensure sufficient available unrestricted cash. Personnel costs represent 59% of 
forecast unrestricted expenditure and are variable subject to notice periods and other 
statutory or contractual obligations.  
  
Given the uncertainties relating to the availability of sufficient working capital facilities, the 
ability of the charity to avoid or defer variable expenditure if required and, in a worst-case 
scenario, its ability to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business, there is material uncertainty which may cast doubt on the charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.. The Trustees are therefore committed to taking all action 
required in terms of cash management and control of expenditure to ensure a worst-case 
scenario is avoided. The Trustees remain confident that we can continue to manage through 
our current financial challenges. 

Trading subsidiary 

The Charity’s wholly owned subsidiary carries out trading activities for the Charity. These 
activities provided a profit before tax of £74k (2019: £112k), which is transferred to the 
Charity as a qualifying charitable donation. 

 

The Trustees’ Report, incorporating the Strategic Report, was approved by the Board on 9 
March 2022. 

   

Nigel Chapman    Laurie Lee 
Acting Chair of Trustees   Chief Executive 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of CARE International UK (“the Parent Charitable 

Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2020 which 

comprise the consolidated statement of financial activities, the Group and Charity balance 

sheet, the consolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Charitable 

Company’s affairs as at 30 June 2020 and of the Group’s income and expenditure 

and the Parent Charitable Company’s income and expenditure for the year then 

ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 

2006.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 

(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Charitable Company in accordance with 

the ethical requirements relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including 

the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern  

We draw attention to note 1(c) in the financial statements, which indicates that the charity is 

dependent on the ongoing availability of sufficient working capital facilities and the Trustees 

are aware that some elements of variable expenditure will need to be deferred in the event 

that unrestricted income does not achieve forecast levels. These conditions indicate the 

existence of a material uncertainty which may cast doubt over the ability of the entity to 

continue as a going concern in a worst-case scenario and it may be unable to realise its 

assets or discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees’ use of the going 

concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
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Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concern are 

described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report and 

Accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The other 

information comprises the Message from the Chair, Trustees’ Annual Report and Strategic 

Report, and Thanks to our Supporters. The trustees are responsible for the other 

information.   

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 

the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 

be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 

financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 

work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the Trustees’ Report, which includes the Directors’ Report 

and the Strategic Report prepared for the purposes of Company Law, for the financial 

year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 

statements; and 

 the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report, which are included in the Trustees’ 

Report, have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Charitable 

Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified 

material misstatement in the Strategic Report or the Trustees’ Report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 

Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Charitable Company, 

or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited 

by us; or 

 the Parent Charitable Company financial statements are not in agreement with the 

accounting records and returns; or 

 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
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Responsibilities of trustees  

As explained more fully in the Trustees’ responsibilities statement, the trustees (who are also 

the directors of the Charitable Company for the purposes of company law) are responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 

and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the Group’s 

and the Parent Charitable Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Charitable 

Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

We have been appointed as auditor under section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and report 

in accordance with the Act and relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 

at the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 

report.  

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Charitable Company’s members, as a body, in accordance 

with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 

so that we might state to the Charitable Company’s members those matters we are required 

to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

Charitable Company and the Charitable Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 

for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Fiona Condron (Senior Statutory Auditor)  

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor 

Gatwick    

Date: 

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered 

number OC305127).  

15 March 2022
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The results for the year shown above all derive from continuing operations. There are no 

recognised gains or losses for the year other than those shown above. There are no material 

differences between the results for the year as stated above and those calculated on a 

historical cost basis. 

The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 80 form an integral part of these Financial 

Statements. 

 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019

 Unrestricted  Restricted  Total  Unrestricted  Restricted  Total 

 funds  funds  funds  funds  funds  funds 

Notes  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Income from:

Donations and legacies 2 5,203            5,157         10,360       5,133 6,226 11,359

Charitable activities 2 5,867            57,206       63,073       4,987 48,344 53,331

Other trading activities           2 227                                            -   227            263                             -   263

Investments 54                                              -   54              49                             -   49

Other income 163                                            -   163            77                             -   77

Total income 11 11,514          62,363       73,877       10,509 54,570 65,079

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 3 3,833                             -   3,833 4,540 45 4,585

Trading costs 3 153                             -   153 151                             -   151

Total cost of raising funds 3,986                             -   3,986 4,691 45 4,736

Charitable activities

Humanitarian response 4 4,570 44,681 49,251 3,924 41,110 45,034

Development work 4 2,252 15,010 17,262 2,278 14,197 16,475

Advocacy 4 618                             -   618 637                             -   637

Total charitable activities 7,440 59,691 67,131 6,839 55,307 62,146

Total expenditure 11 11,426 59,691 71,117 11,530 55,352 66,882

Net Income/(net expenditure) 88 2,672 2,760 (1,021)            (782)           (1,803)        

Fund balances brought forward 1,717 12,551 14,268 2,738 13,333 16,071

Fund balances carried forward 1,805 15,223 17,028 1,717 12,551 14,268

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
(Incorporating an Income and Expenditure Account)
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The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 80 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. The 

Group has taken advantage of the exemption under s408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not 

prepared a separate Statement of Financial Activities for the Charity. Net Income for CARE 

International UK in the year was £2.8m (2019: Net Expenditure of £1.8m) 

Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 9 March 2022 

   

Nigel Chapman      Stephen Oxley 

Acting Chair of Trustees                         Chair, Finance and Audit Committee 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2020

Registered company number: 1911651

 Group  Group  Charity  Charity 

2020 2019 2020 2019

Notes  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

 Fixed Assets 

 Tangible Fixed Assets 7 366 451 366 451

 Investments 8 39 39 39 39

405 490 405 490

 Current Assets 

 Debtors 9 15,095 12,901 15,357 13,042

 Cash 19,656 13,466 19,382 13,311

34,751 26,367 34,739 26,353

 Creditors 

Amounts falling due within one year 10 (17,847)        (12,242)      (17,835)         (12,228)      

 Net current assets 16,904 14,125 16,904 14,125

 Creditors 

Amounts falling due after one year 10 (281)             (347)           (281)              (347)           

 Net assets 16,623 13,778 16,623 13,778

 Total Assets 17,028 14,268 17,028 14,268

Represented by

 Restricted funds 11 15,223 12,551 15,223 12,551

 Unrestricted funds

 - General reserves 1,805 853 1,805 853

 - Designated funds                              -   864                             -   864

 Unrestricted funds total 11 1,805 1,717 1,805 1,717

Total funds 12 17,028 14,268 17,028 14,268

GROUP AND CHARITY BALANCE SHEET
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The movement in net debt for the current year and prior year is identical to the movement in cashflow 

set out above. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2020

 Group Group

2020 2019

Notes  £'000  £’000 

Net cash flows generated by/(funded by) operating activities 16a 6,271 (4,031)            

Net cash flows (funded by) investing activities 16b (81)            (51)                 

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year 6,190 (4,082)            

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in cash and cash 

equivalents

Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year 6,190 (4,082)            

Movement in cash and cash equivalents in the year 6,190 (4,082)            

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 13,466 17,548

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16c 19,656 13,466

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
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The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 80 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 

1. Accounting policies 

a) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Charity, which is a public benefit entity have been prepared 

under the historical cost convention in accordance with: 

 the Financial Reporting Standard (FRS102) Applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland,  

 the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
(Charities SORP (FRS102)) 2nd Edition,  

 the Charities Act 2011  

 and Companies Act 2006. 
 

The Charity has adapted the Companies Act formats to reflect the Charities SORP and the 

special nature of the Charity’s activities. The principal accounting policies are set out below 

and have been applied consistently throughout the current year and the comparative year. 

b) Basis of consolidation 

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (SoFA) and Balance Sheet consolidate 

the Financial Statements of the Charity and its subsidiary undertaking. The results of the 

subsidiary are consolidated on a line by line basis. No separate SoFA has been presented 

for the Charity alone as permitted by the Companies Act 2006 (Section 408). The Charity 

has also taken the exemption under FRS102 (1.12(b)) to not include a parent only cash flow 

statement in these accounts.  

c) Going concern 

COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the income of CARE International UK in 2021/22 
because of the reduction in UK government official development assistance as a result of the 
economic impacts of dealing with the pandemic. This reduction in income combined with our 
reduced reserves presents a challenging financial environment for CARE International UK.  

  
In assessing whether it is appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis, the 
Trustees have taken account of the current level of unrestricted reserves and cash, and the 
challenging external funding environment as described above. On 15 February 2022 the 
charity had £1.2M of unrestricted cash.  Given these challenges, Trustees have carefully 
evaluated two important factors relating to the forecast period to 31 March 2023 as follows:  
  

 the availability of working capital facilities including cash, overdraft, offset facilities 
and the indication of financial support from other parts of CARE; and 

 the ability of the charity to avoid variable expenditure in the event that unrestricted 
income does not achieve forecast levels or the timing of income receipts is delayed.  

  
 
During the next year and going forward, we will manage cash flows very carefully. In 
particular we are conscious that providing programme funds in advance of receiving funds 
from the donor has an impact on our short-term cash flow.  The charity also has access to 
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several facilities to assist with Unrestricted and Restricted cashflows.  We pay for an 
offsetting facility at our bank which allows negative accounts balances to be notionally offset 
against positive account balances, and only incur overdraft interest charges on net negative 
balances. We hold an overdraft facility of £0.5m which can be used to meet unrestricted or 
restricted cash flow needs. . Discussions with our bank indicate that these facilities will be 
available throughout the forecast period. These facilities are subject to a one month notice 
period and are reviewed annually with our bank on the basis of audited accounts and 
financial forecasts.  In addition, we are also able to borrow at least €0.6m at 0.25% interest 
against a revolving fund maintained by the wider global CARE Confederation (based on 30% 
of total fund value as of 31 December 2021). This loan can be used to mitigate restricted 
cash flow pressures relating to funding paid in arrears for specific programmes.  We have 
also discussed with CARE USA and they would be able in principle to support short or 
medium term cash-flow needs if required, subject to approval by the CARE USA Board at a 
point in the future. The budgetary and cash flow positions are reported regularly to the 
Executive Team and the Board to ensure timely decisions can be made regarding the 
continuing operations of the organisation.  

 
We have taken prompt action and identified one off and longer-term savings of around £1M 

in 2020/21 and £1.5m in 2021/22 by reducing headcount and our underlying cost base. We 

have also taken advantage where relevant, of Government schemes including claiming 

furlough for staff of £0.1m FY20 (2019: £nil) unable to fulfil their duties. Some of our savings 

will be reinvested in increased fundraising under a new strategy approved in December 

2020, with positive early results. Detailed fundraising plans have been approved by the 

Board and are being closely monitored. Our new Fundraising, Partnerships and 

Communications Strategy ensures risk is spread across multiple channels and campaigns 

and also considers the potential impacts on success from Covid-19 and other external 

environment factors. In order to make the most of our resources we will follow an agile 

approach to testing new activity and ideas. Income generation driven by this strategy is 

regularly tested for the best, likely and worse financial case scenarios and the testing 

appraised by the Board. CARE UK recognises that investment in its fundraising, 

partnerships and communication is key to successful delivery of robust and diversified 

income streams and the Board has made a commitment to funding the strategy, whilst at the 

same time regularly monitoring return on investment and impact.  

Other elements of the savings will begin to increase our unrestricted reserves to meet our 
minimum reserves level whilst a further portion of the savings are required due to the 
reduction in income forecast in 2021/22 from UK government funding. From 2022/23 
onwards, we are forecasting increased income again as our fundraising strategy begins to 
pay off. We have also further stress tested our assumptions for the coming months up to 
March 2023 to ensure that we have fully understood the potential financial impacts of any 
further changes in circumstances. 

  
However, should we be in a position where we need to reduce costs in the coming 12 
months, Trustees would do so. At the present time, non-personnel variable costs represent 
31% of forecast unrestricted expenditure. Given the inherent uncertainties associated with 
certain forms of fundraising, the charity may need to defer some variable expenditure in 
order to ensure sufficient available unrestricted cash. Personnel costs represent 59% of 
forecast unrestricted expenditure and are variable subject to notice periods and other 
statutory or contractual obligations.  
 
The charity participates in a multi-employer defined benefit scheme administered by The 

Pensions Trust and which was closed to new members at the end of April 2014. There is 
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technically a potential liability to CIUK, applicable to employers with pre-October 2001 

liabilities in the Plan as a buy-out debt will exist if CIUK withdraws all employees from the 

scheme. Further details are included in Note 18. There are currently ten employees 

remaining in this scheme and CARE UK actively manages the risk of this liability crystallising 

by ensuring at least one employee remains in the scheme. On this basis the Trustees 

consider that the Pensions Trust defined benefit scheme does not impact on the charity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern.  

  
Given the uncertainties relating to the availability of sufficient working capital facilities, the 

ability of the charity to avoid or defer variable expenditure if required and, in a worst-case 

scenario, its ability to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 

business, there is material uncertainty which may cast doubt on the charity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. . The Trustees are therefore committed to taking all action 

required in terms of cash management and control of expenditure to ensure a worst-case 

scenario is avoided. The Trustees remain confident that we can continue to manage through 

our current financial challenges. 

 

d) Income 

Income  

Income is included in the SoFA when the Charity is legally entitled to the income and the 

amount can be quantified with reasonable accuracy and receipt is probable. 

Donations, including regular giving and appeals, are recognised as income once CARE has 

the right to receive the donation, when it is probable that the economic benefits will be 

received and that the amount of the donation can be measured reliably. 

Income from sponsors is recognised on a receivable basis. 

Income from Gift Aid tax reclaims on donations is recognised on an accruals basis, covered 

under a valid Gift Aid declaration. 

Recognition of legacy income is dependent on the type of legacy: 

 Pecuniary legacies are recognised when notification is received 

 Residuary legacies are recognised when entitlement is established, and the value 
can be measured reliably. This is typically on grant of probate. 
 

Grants and contracts 

All income is considered unrestricted unless specifically restricted by the donor or raised in 

an appeal for a specific purpose.  Grants are included in ‘Donations and legacies’ in the 

SoFA from the following sources: 

 Governments and other agencies 
 corporates, trusts and foundations, and  

 major donors that provide core funding, or are of a general nature. 
 

Where income from grants and contracts is for the specific provision of goods and services 

in the furtherance of our purpose it is included as ‘Charitable activities’. 
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Grant and contract income is accrued once all conditions that would permit entitlement have 

been met.  Income is only deferred when the Charity has to fulfil conditions before becoming 

entitled to it or where the donor has specified that the income is to be expended in a future 

accounting period.  Similarly, where entitlement occurs before income is received the income 

is accrued.   

Income earned under contracts with donors where payments are contingent on the 

achievement of specified results is recognised in the SoFA in proportion to the stage of 

completion of the project.  Where it is probable that total contract costs exceed total contract 

income, the expected deficit is recognised immediately. Income and expenditure in relation 

to these contracts are recognised within restricted funds, with any resulting surplus or deficit 

shown as a transfer to or from unrestricted funds. 

Contributions in kind 

Contributions and donations in kind are recorded at fair values on the date of contribution 

and recorded as unrestricted income and expenditure in the SoFA. 

Trading 

Income from trading activities is accounted for on an accruals basis. 

e) Expenditure 

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and is classified in the SOFA according 

to the activity to which it relates.  Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular 

classifications, where practicable, they have been allocated to activities on a basis 

consistent with use of the resources. 

Central overhead costs (classified as Support Costs) are allocated to operational and 

fundraising functions based on their use measured by direct costs.   

Governance costs are those which relate to the provision of the governance infrastructure of 

the Charity.  Included within this category are costs associated with the strategic 

management of the Charity’s activities, and all trustee and committee costs. In accordance 

with FRS102, these costs are classified as Support Costs. 

Charitable activities expenditure includes both costs incurred directly by CIUK and indirectly 

where CIUK sub-contracts programme implementation to CARE country offices and other 

Partners but continues to provide management and oversight to these programmes.   

Fundraising expenditure represents the total costs of fundraising includes the costs of 

disseminating information in support of the charitable activities.   

f) Property and equipment 

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Items costing less than 

£1,000 are not capitalised.  Fixed assets are defined as non-programme expenditure for 

buildings, equipment and leasehold improvements. Depreciation is provided on a straight-

line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:  

 Leasehold improvements: over the remaining life of the lease 

 IT equipment:    3 years 

 Other equipment:   7 years 

 Business systems:   5 years 
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g) Operating leases 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the SoFA on a straight-line basis over 

the term of the lease. 

h) Fund accounting 

Unrestricted funds comprise funds available for use at the discretion of the Trustees in 

furtherance of the objectives of the Charity. Designated funds are unrestricted funds that 

have been ring-fenced for specific initiatives supporting our strategic objectives. Expenditure 

against these initiatives is included as Unrestricted Expenditure in the SoFA and a 

corresponding adjustment made between General and Designated Funds at Year End. 

Restricted funds are subject to specific restrictions imposed by donors or by the purpose of 

the appeal under which they were raised. 

i) Financial instruments 

CIUK has financial assets and liabilities that qualify as basic financial instruments. They are 

measured as follows: 

Financial instrument Measurement 

Cash Cash held at bank and in hand. 

Cash equivalents CIUK funds held by programme offices are 
classified as debtors as the cash is no longer 
under the control of CIUK. 

Debtors Initially at settlement amount after any trade 
discounts.  Subsequently at cash or other 
consideration expected to be received. 

Creditors Initially at settlement amount after any trade 
discounts.  Subsequently at cash or other 
consideration expected to be paid. 

 

j) Foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling 

at the date of the transaction.  Financial instruments are retranslated at the rate of exchange 

at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences are taken to the SoFA and included in 

the net movement in funds.  Sterling is both the functional and presentational currency of the 

Charity. 

k) Pensions 

Contributions to the defined contribution pension scheme are recognised in the SoFA when 

they are payable.  The money purchase nature of the scheme assures there will be no 

funding deficit or surplus accruing to the Charity in the future.  The pension scheme is 

independently administered.  The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of 

the Charity.   

The Charity also participates in the Pensions Trust Growth Plan.  This is a multi-employer 

pension scheme where it is not possible to separately identify the assets and liabilities of 

participating employers.  This is a money purchase arrangement with historical guarantees.  

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004.  

Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an 

annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.  A full actuarial valuation for the 

scheme was carried out as of 30 September 2019, which showed a deficit.  The pension 
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trustees have asked for the participating employers to pay additional contributions to the 

scheme to eliminate this funding shortfall.  These recovery plan contributions are allocated to 

each participating employer in line with their estimated share of the scheme liabilities.  The 

liability recognised for this obligation is the net present value of the deficit reduction 

contributions payable under the plan and is held as a provision in the Balance Sheet. The 

current overall position of the fund and the assumptions made are provided in Note 18. 

l) Taxation status 

The organisation is a registered charity within the meaning of Para 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 

2010. As such, the Charity is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital 

gains within categories covered by the Corporate Tax Act 2010 (Chapter 3 of Para 11) and 

of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 (Section256), to the extent that such income 

or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. The Charity is able to partially 

recover Value Added Tax (VAT). Expenditure subject to VAT that is not recoverable is 

recorded in the Accounts inclusive of VAT.  The subsidiary trading company makes 

qualifying donations of taxable profit to the Charity to the full extent allowable. Unless 

material, any Corporation Tax liability arising in the subsidiary is included within the 

expenditure by the Group. 

m) Areas of significant judgement and estimates 

Significant accounting judgements and estimates 

The Trustees are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  

These judgements and estimates are continually evaluated, based upon experience, 

reasonable expectations of the outcome of future event and professional and expert advice.  

The significant judgements and estimates that could impact the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities are detailed below: 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue recognition requires judgement to appropriately apply the income accounting 

policies across the many complex funding streams the Charity has.  Note 1d (on page 62) 

details the accounting principle adopted and their application across the significant funding 

streams.  The judgements are continually reassessed and where appropriate provision is 

made for contingencies or deferrals are made to account for conditions yet to be fulfilled. 

Cost Allocation methodology 

The cost allocation methodology requires a judgement as to the most appropriate basis to 

use to apportion Support Costs.  These are reviewed annually to assess whether the basis 

adopted continues to be reasonable.  Support Costs are allocated on a pro rata basis, based 

on their use as measured by direct expenditure. 

Pensions Trust scheme deficit 

The assumptions underpinning the measurement of the Pension Trust liability depend upon 

significant judgements and estimates.  Details of the potential liability relating to withdrawal 

from the Pensions Trust scheme are set out in Note 20. The trustees consider the probability 

of this liability crystallising to be remote.   

Lendwithcare  

Lendwithcare funds are not presented as part of CIUK’s assets. To ensure this is appropriate 

legal advice has been obtained and is updated on a regular basis. Any updates to the terms 

and conditions are scrutinised to ensure that it continues to be appropriate for CIUK to 
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operate and disclose that the scheme is an agency arrangement. The trustees do not 

consider there to be any other areas of significant judgement or estimates. 

 

2. Income 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2a.  Consolidated Income from donations, legacies and charitable activities by source

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019

Unrestricted 

funds

Restricted 

funds

Total 

funds

Unrestricted 

funds

Restricted 

funds

Total 

funds

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Donations and legacies

Individuals (including legacies and events) 3,742           575           4,317      4,161            607          4,768        

Corporate donors 1,415           4,211        5,626      938               4,765       5,703        

Disaster Emergency Committee (DEC) 46                371           417         34                 854          888           

  Total Donations and legacies 5,203           5,157        10,360    5,133            6,226       11,359      

Charitable activities

Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office/ 

Department for International Development (DFID)
4,082           48,806      52,888    3,336            39,817     43,153      

European Union (EU) 55                596           651         243               3,800       4,043        

European Commission's Directorate-General for 

Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection (ECHO)
101              788           889         246               829          1,075        

Others 1,629           7,016        8,645      1,162            3,898       5,060        

  Total 5,867           57,206      63,073    4,987            48,344     53,331      

2b.  Other trading  activity

The trading income from the wholly owned subsidiary, CARE International Enterprises Limited, derives from: 

·       providing IT support to five European CARE International offices, 

·       fees charged to corporate partners for use of the CARE name and logo, 

·       donated royalties from book sales

2020 2019

Unrestricted 

 funds

Unrestricted 

funds

£'000 £'000

Total trading income 227 263

227 263
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3a.  Expenditure on raising funds

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019

Unrestricted Restricted Totals Unrestricted Restricted Totals

funds funds funds funds funds funds

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Individuals 2,724           -             2,724     2,897           45            2,942       

Institutional donors 349              -             349        670              -           670          

Corporate donors 447              -             447        593              -           593          

Media & Communications 125              -             125        126              -           126          

Support costs (Note 4 and 5) 188              -             188        254              -           254          

Total 3,833           -             3,833     4,540           45            4,585       

3b. Expenditure on trading activities

The trading costs incurred by the wholly owned subsidiary, CARE International Enterprises Limited, comprise: 

2020 2019

Unrestricted 

funds

Unrestricted 

funds

£’000 £’000

Cost of sales 150 141

Administrative costs 3 10

153 151

4. Expenditure

2020 Direct 

Functional 

Expenditure

2020 

Reallocation 

of Support 

Costs

2020 Total 

Expenditure

2019 Direct 

Functional 

Expenditure

2019 

Reallocation 

of Support 

Costs

2019 Total 

Expenditure

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Expenditure on Raising Funds 3,798 188 3,986 4,482             254                4,736            

Expenditure on Charitable Activities

  Humanitarian 46,844 2,407 49,251 42,526           2,508             45,034          

  Development 16,398 864 17,262 15,551           924                16,475          

  Advocacy 588 30 618 601                36                  637               

Subtotal 67,628 3,489             71,117 63,160           3,722             66,882          

Support Cost Reallocation 3,489 (3,489)            -                 3,722             (3,722)            -                

Total Expenditure 71,117 -                 71,117 66,882           -                 66,882          
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5. Support costs

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Support Costs

  Management 1,191 1,257

  Office costs 769 860

  Finance & IT 970 892

  Human resources 329 462

  Governance 230 251

Total 3,489 3,722

Included in Support Costs are the following:

Total Total

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Auditor's remuneration 89 45

Depreciation charges (see Note 7) 219 199

Operating lease - rent 567 567

Support costs in 2020 amounted to £3.5m and a breakdown by area of expenditure is 

provided in the table below.  The reallocation of support costs to fundraising and charitable 

activity has been provided in note 4
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In addition to full-time permanent staff, CIUK employed temporary staff at a cost of £0.09m 

(2019: £0.04m). This was due to some positions being filled on an interim basis. These costs 

are included in other costs. There were no termination costs in 2020 (2019: £0.09m).  

The number of CIUK employees whose remuneration (wages and employer pension 

contribution) during the year amounted to over £60,000 was as follows: 

The highest paid individual in the organisation is the Chief Executive Officer. In 2020 the 

Chief Executive’s remuneration (pay and pension) placed him in the £130,001 - £140,000 

band (2019: £130,001- £140,000 band). 

CIUK has formal pay scales in place for all levels of staff. We benchmark our salaries each 

year against similar organisations in the NGO sector and pay at the median of salaries for 

each grade, and we are a London living wage employer. 

6.  Staff costs

Total Total

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 4,678  4,799   

Social security costs 487     508      

Pension costs 286     271      

Termination costs -     94        

Other staff costs 306     237      

Total 5,757  5,909   

The average number of UK employees was:
 2020 

Number 

 2019 

Number 

Charitable activities 58              62               

Fundraising 36              38               

Support 21              22               

Total CIUK employees 115            122             

Staff seconded to other CARE members 1                1                 

Total 116            123             

2020 2019

Number Number

£60,001 - £70,000 3 2

£70,001 - £80,000 1 2

£80,001 - £90,000 2 3

£130,001 - £140,000 1 1

7 8
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The remuneration of the Chief Executive is set by the Nominations and Remuneration 

Committee. The remuneration of the Senior Management Team is set by the Nominations 

and Remuneration Committee in consultation with the Chief Executive. 

Our pay ratio (the ratio between the highest paid member of CIUK staff and the median) is 

3.2 (2019: 3.01), and this ratio is one of the indicators used to monitor the organisation’s 

approach to pay. 

Employer contributions are made to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of one 

higher paid employee (2019: three). Total employer contributions in respect of higher paid 

employees during the year amounted to £0.04m (2019: £0.03m). 

The key management personnel of the charity are the trustees and the senior management 

team (as listed under ‘organisational details’ in the annual report). The short-term employee 

benefits (as defined in FRS102 28.4: wages, pension and social security contributions) for 

the senior management team for 2020 was £0.45m (2019: £0.46m). None of the members of 

the Board received any remuneration for their work as trustees (2019: Nil). There were no 

expenses reimbursed to trustees for travel undertaken on the Charity's behalf in 2020 (2019: 

less than £1,000 for three trustees).  
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7. Tangible fixed assets

Group and Charity, 2020

 Leasehold 

Improvements 

 Office 

Equipment 

 IT 

Equipment 

 Total 

2020 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

At 1 July 2019 205                    238                   915              1,358       

Additions -                     3                       132              135          

At 30 June 2020 205                    241                   1,047           1,493       

Depreciation

At 1 July 2019 162                    149                   597              908          

Charge for the year 21                      22                     176              219          

At 30 June 2020 183                    171                   773              1,127       

Net book value

At 30 June 2020 22                      70                     274              366          

At 30 June 2019 42                      90                     319              451          

Group and Charity, 2019

 Leasehold 

Improvements 

 Office 

Equipment 

 IT 

Equipment 

 Total 

2019 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

At 1 July 2018 205                    238                   815              1,258       

Additions 100              100          

At 30 June 2019 205                    238                   915              1,358       

Depreciation

At 1 July 2018 142                    126                   440              708          

Charge for the year 21                      22                     156              199          

At 30 June 2019 163                    148                   596              907          

Net book values

At 30 June 2019 42                      90                     319              451          

At 30 June 2018 63                      112                   375              550          
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The unlisted investment represents a cash investment in the CARE International Revolving Fund (see 

paragraph b) below). 

 

a) Subsidiary company  

Investments held by the Charity include a £2 (2018: £2) investment in the subsidiary company at cost. The 

Charity holds 100 per cent of the issued share capital of CI Enterprises Limited, which is registered in 

England and Wales. The company’s principal activity is to undertake trading for the Charity. A summary of 

the subsidiary’s results and its position at 30 June 2020 is given in Note 14. 

b) CARE International  

During the year, CIUK continued to participate in the Revolving Fund established with other members of the 

CARE International confederation. CIUK’s cash investment of €40,535 is unchanged over the period.  The 

Revolving Fund (administered by the CARE International Secretariat in Geneva) provides short term 

interest-bearing loans to finance projects across the CARE International confederation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Investments

Group and Charity 2020 2019

£'000 £'000

Market value

At 1 July 2019 (2018) 39 39

At 30 June 2020 (2019) 39 39
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Project balances held overseas are funds transferred to other CARE International offices but not yet spent 

on programme activities.  

 

 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.   Debtors

Group Group Charity Charity

2020 2019 2020 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EC/ECHO -             59              -              59              

FCDO/DFID 261            188            261              188            

Due from other donors 4,245         3,679         4,245           3,679         

Due from other CARE International Offices 301            58              301              58              

Sundry debtors 625            651            480              514            

Due from subsidiary undertaking 2                - 410              280            

Prepayments and accrued income 623            362            623              360            

Project balances held overseas in Country Offices 9,038         7,904         9,038           7,904         

Total debtors 15,095       12,901       15,357         13,042       

10.  Creditors

 Group Group Charity Charity

2020 2019 2020 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year

Programme creditors and other CARE offices 15,640      9,886         15,640        9,886        

Trade Creditors 276           781            276             772           

Taxation and social security 141           132            141             132           

Provision for pension deficit recovery plan 75             73              75               73             

Sundry creditors 919           229            911             229           

Accruals 692           420            688             415           

Deferred income 104           721            104             721           

Total 17,847      12,242       17,835        12,228      

Amounts falling due after one year

Provision for pension deficit recovery plan 281           347            281             347           

Total 18,128      12,589       18,116        12,575      
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A programme creditor is where programme partners or CARE offices have spent more on programme 

activities than the funds transferred from CARE International UK, and therefore the funds are owed to the 

relevant CARE office or partner. 
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 11.  Consolidated  Statement of Funds 

Statement of Funds 2020

1 July 2019 Income Expenditure
 Transfer 

between funds 

  June 30, 

2020 

Group £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restricted Funds

Donations & Legacies

Individuals (including legacies and events) 781 575 (175) 16 1,196

Corporate donors 6,370 4,212 (4,441) (451) 5,690

Disaster Emergency Committee (DEC) 174 371 (613) 0 (68)

Total Donations and Legacies 7,325              5,158              (5,229)             (435)                6,819              

Charitable Activities

Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office/ 

Department for International Development (DFID)
5,674 48,806 (47,968) 574 7,086

European Union (EU) (1,773) 596 (361) 249 (1,288)

European Commission's Directorate-General for 

Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection (ECHO)
(963) 788 (1,111) 746 (539)

Other donors 833 7,016 (5,062) (95) 2,691

Other restricted funds 1,455 0 38 (1,039) 454

Total Charitable Activities 5,226              57,206            (54,462)           435                 8,404              

Total Restricted Funds 12,551 62,363            (59,691) -                  15,223

Unrestricted Funds

  General Funds 853                 11,514            (11,426)           864                 1,805              

  Designated Funds 864                                        -                              -   (864)                -                  

Total Unrestricted Funds 1,717              11,514            (11,426)           -                  1,805              

Total funds 14,268            73,877            (71,117)           -                  17,028            

Statement of Funds 2019

1  July 2018 Income Expenditure
 Transfer 

between funds 

  June  30, 

2019 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restricted Funds

Donations & Legacies

Individuals (including legacies and events) 550                 607                 (376)                -                  781

Corporate donors 5,991              4,765              (4,386)             -                  6,370

Disaster Emergency Committee (DEC) 46                   854                 (726)                -                  174

Total Donations and Legacies 6,588              6,226              (5,489)             -                  7,325

Charitable Activities

Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office/ 

Department for International Development (DFID)
4,302              39,817            (38,445)           -                  5,674

European Union (EU) 41                   3,800              (5,614)             -                  (1,773)

European Commission's Directorate-General for 

Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection (ECHO)
1,116              829                 (2,907)             -                  (963)

Other donors 139                 3,898              (3,205)             -                  833

Other restricted funds 1,147              -                  307                 -                  1,455

Total Charitable Activities 6,746              48,344            (49,864)           -                  5,226

Total Restricted Funds 13,333            54,570            (55,352)           -                  12,551

Unrestricted Funds

  General Funds 1,700              10,509            (11,530)           174                 853                 

  Designated Funds 1,038              -                  -                  (174)                864                 

Total UnrestrictedFunds 2,738              10,509            (11,530)           -                  1,717              

Total funds 16,071            65,079            (66,882)           -                  14,268            
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During 2019/20 the Trustees undesignated £0.9m of the designated unrestricted funds and re-allocated 

them to become part of CIUK’s free reserves. 

As at 30 June 2020 a small number of programmes ended the year with a deficit fund balance, totalling 

£3.1m. The amounts in deficit are all recoverable. In most instances, expenditure was incurred to 

implement the awards in advance of receiving and recording the corresponding income, within the 

authorised award amount. The final project report or audit and related donor approval was pending on 30 

June 2020, with completing those activities being a condition for funds transfer and income recognition. 

The following awards make up £3.1m of the awards with fund balance deficits: 

 European Commission for Inside Syria humanitarian assistance:  £1.4m 

 ECHO for Sudan HIP project:      £0.8m 

 UNOPS for SUBARNA project in Bangladesh:    £0.4m 

 ECHO for Refugees in Uganda program:     £0.3m 

 DEC for Idai emergency relief program in Mozambique:   £0.2m 
 

When the recovery of funds for these awards is taken into account, the fund balances for all major donor 

groups listed above is positive. The Trustees confirm that  the funds for these awards have been fully 

recovered. 

 

 

 

12.  Analysis of net assets between funds 

Group  Fixed assets 
 Current 

assets 

 Current 

liabilities 

 Long-term 

liabilities 
 Total 2020 

2020 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restricted  -   30,925            (15,702)            -   15,223            

Unrestricted 405                 3,826              (2,145)             (281)                1,805              

Designated  -    -    -    -   -                  

Total Funds 405                 34,751            (17,847)           (281)                17,028            

Group  Fixed assets 
 Current 

assets 

 Current 

liabilities 

 Long-term 

liabilities 
 Total 2019 

2019 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restricted - 23,493            (10,942)           - 12,551            

Unrestricted 489                 2,010              (1,300)             (346)                853                 

Designated - 864                 - - 864                 

Total Funds 489                 26,367            (12,242)           (346)                14,268            
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14.  Subsidiary company 

The Charity owns the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of CI Enterprises Ltd, a company registered in  

England and Wales (Company number 02306212) and whose registered address is c/o Ashurst LLP, London  

Fruit and Wool Exchange, 1 Duval Square, London E1 6PW. . 

The subsidiary engages in trading activities to provide income for the Charity.  The activities during the year were: 

- providing of IT support to five European CARE International offices, 
- fees from corporate partners for use of the CARE name and logo, 
- receipt of donated royalties from book sales 

 

 

13.  Commitments

At 30 June 2020 the Group was committed to total payments in respect of operating leases which expire within the following periods:

Group and 

Charity

Group and 

Charity

Group and 

Charity

Group and 

Charity

2020 2019 2020 2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

 Operating leases expiring 

   - within one year 231 264 2 9

   - within two to five years                             -   231                             -   3

   - over five years                              -                                -                                -                               -   

 Total 231 495 2 12

Land and buildings Equipment
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15. Lendwithcare 

Lendwithcare is a peer-to-peer lending relationship between people in the UK and people in low income countries.  
It is an innovative way of raising microfinance to help entrepreneurs in developing countries 
to lift themselves out of poverty.  
 
The total number of lenders, since the scheme’s inception in April 2010, is 60,548 (2019: 55,027) with   
43,449 (FY19: 39,331) active lenders as at 30 June 2020. Active lenders are defined as a lender who has  
logged in, made a loan or received a repayment in the last 12 months. 
 
The total value of loans made to entrepreneurs is £28.4m. This has supported 130,435 (2019: 116,181)  
Entrepreneurs since the beginning of the scheme. In compliance with the Charities SORP (FRS102), the 
Charity, as agent, discloses the value of funds added to the scheme; funds loaned to entrepreneurs   
through microfinance partners, which includes both new funds from lenders and funds repaid to lenders 
and then re-loaned to another entrepreneur; together with the balances held at 30 June 2020. 
 
 

CI Enterprises Ltd 2020 2019

£'000 £'000

Total trading income 227       263       

Cost of sales (150)      (141)      

Gross profit 77         122       

Administrative expenses (3)          (10)        

Profit before qualifying charitable donation and taxation 74         112       

The aggregate of the assets and liabilities were

Assets 294       294       

Liabilities (294)      (294)      

Funds                    -        -        
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Lenders’ funds do not form part of the assets of CIUK and are therefore not consolidated within the 
financial statements. They are not available for use by the Charity. 
 
The operating costs of the scheme of £0.9m (2019: £0.7m) are included in expenditure on raising funds 
(individuals) within the financial statements and in Note 3. These are the costs of managing the scheme 
and raising new funds for the scheme.     
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16.  Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Net income/(expenditure) 2,760            (1,803)         

Interest receivable (54)                (49)              

Depreciation charges 218               199              

(Increase) in debtors (2,192)           (575)            

Increase/(Decrease) in creditors and provisions 5,540            (1,803)         

Net cash flow from operating activities 6,271            (4,031)         

b)      Investing activities

Interest received 54                 49                

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (135)              (100)            

Net cash flow from investing activities (81)                (51)              

c)       Analysis of changes in cash and cash equivalents

2020 At 30 June Cash 
Foreign 

Exchange
At 30 June

2019 Flow £’000 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 13,466         6,050         140               19,656         

Total cash and cash equivalents 13,466         6,050         140               19,656         

2019 At 30 June Cash 
Foreign 

Exchange
At 30 June

2018 Flow £’000 2019

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 17,548         (4,530)        448               13,466         

Total cash and cash equivalents 17,548         (4,530)        448               13,466         

a)      Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net cash flow 

provided by/(used in) operating activities
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17.  Related Party Transactions 
 
The Charity is a member of the Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC) and in the year paid a subscription of 
£0.04m (2019: £0.036m). As an automatic part of membership, CIUK’s Chief Executive is a trustee of the DEC. 
The Charity receives funds from DEC appeals and amounts received and receivable in the year were £0.418m 
(2019: £0.888m). 
 
There were no related party transactions with Trustees this year other than those disclosed in emoluments notes 
(2019: £NIL). 
 
 
18. Pensions 
 
All new employees are auto-enrolled into a Group Personal Pension Plan with Royal London (formerly Scottish 
Life) comprising a 5% employer contribution and 3% employee contribution. 
 
Contributions to the scheme for the year were £0.324m (2019: £0.324m) and at the end of June 2020 there were 
103 members in the scheme (2019: 82). 
 
The Charity also participates in a multi-employer defined benefit scheme administered by The Pensions Trust. 
This scheme was closed to new members at the end of April 2014, and existing members continue to benefit 
from a 7.5% employer contribution against a 4% employee contribution. 
 
Contributions to the scheme for the year were £40k (2019: £0.084m) and at the end of June 2020 there were 10 
members in the scheme (2019: 13). 
 
Contributions to the multi-employer scheme paid into The Pensions Trust’s Growth Plan up to and including 
September 2001 have been converted to defined amounts of pension payable from Normal Retirement Date. 
From October 2001, contributions were invested in personal funds which have a capital guarantee and which are 
converted to pension on retirement, either with the Growth Plan or by purchasing an annuity. 
 
Following a change in legislation in September 2005, there is technically a potential liability to CIUK, applicable 
to employers with pre-October 2001 liabilities in the Plan: when an employer withdraws from a pension scheme 
which is in deficit, the employer is required by law to pay its share of the deficit, calculated on a statutory basis 
(known as the buy-out basis). If Plan liabilities exceed assets, a buy-out debt will exist if CIUK withdraws all 
employees from the scheme. The leaving employer’s share of the buy-out debt is the proportion of the Plan’s 
pre-October 2001 liability attributable to employment with the leaving employer compared with the total amount 
of the Plan’s pre-October 2001 liabilities. Given the number of factors to be considered in determining the 
liabilities the debt can fluctuate over time. 
 
The Pensions Trust estimates that the cost of withdrawal from the Plan would be £1.2m based on the financial 
position of the Plan at 30 September 2019 (2019: £1.1m).  The Pensions Trust has advised that an employer will 
only be deemed to have withdrawn if it has no active members remaining in the Plan and no eligible employees 
to whom to offer membership to the Plan. The chance of this debt crystallising is therefore considered remote. 
CIUK has no intention of withdrawing from the scheme and will continue to make a provision for the recovery of 
pension deficit amounts. 
 
Under the Pensions Trust recovery plan, deficit contributions made by CIUK during the year were £0.73m (2019: 
£0.63m). This recovery plan is intended to run to 2025. 
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In compliance with the Charity Statement of Recommended Practice (FRS102), the provision for the net present 
value of the future contributions to the deficit recovery plan is held in the Balance Sheet. Details of this provision 
are given in Note 10, Creditors. 
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19. Donor Funding

The following grants information is disclosed separately in accordance with the specific reporting requirements of the donor. Income 

recognised 

2020

£'000

Comic Relief

Sport for Social Change - Empowering female advocates 40                

Humanitarian Rapid Response to Yemen 100              

Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC)

WASH Restoration and Livelihoods Recovery for More Resilient Communities in Central Sulawesi 266              

Restoring access to WASH and education in the aftermath of Cyclone Idai 152              

Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office/Department for International Development

Strengtheining Access to Fair and Equitable Justice (SAFE JUSTICE) 119              

Developing resilience of households and communities affected by conflict in Northern, Central and Southern Syria 16,131         

Multisector Humanitarian Response Programme 14,412         

Facilitating Successful Recovery and Preparedness – Idai Response 6,994           

Seizing the moment: Working toward Gender Equality in Government Structures and Policies with a focus on the Ministry of 

Women Children and Youth Affairs 281              

Strenghthening Resilience to Climate Change in Western Kenya phase 2 117              

Sahel Covid-19 Response in Chad, Niger and Mali 1,571           

Multisector Humanitarian Response Programme Extension 946              

Steps Towards Afghan Girls' Educational Success PHASE II (STAGES II) - via Aga Khan Foundation 1,697           

Strengthening Resilience to Climate Change in Western Kenya - via DAI 146              

Weather and Climate Information Services for Africa (WISER) -  via IGAD Climate Prediction and Application 163              

The Acccountability in Tanzania Programme Phase 2 (AcT2) - via KPMG 176              

Building Resiliency and Gender Equality of the most marginalised communities through Multi-sector Approches to delivering 

quality sexual and reproductive health and rights (Co-creation phase) - via Marie Stopes International 108              

Kobcinta Waxbarashada Gabdhana - Somali Girls Education Promotion - Transition (SOMGEP-T) - via PWC 3,401           

Adolescent Girls' Education in Somalia (AGES) - via PWC 3,039           

DFID Somalia Social Norms and Participation Programmed (SNaP) ; Challenging Harmful Attitudes and Norms for Gender 

Equity and Empowerment in Somalia (CHANGES) Project - via Save the Children Somalia 548              

Improving Gender Attitude Transition and Education - (IGATE-T) - via World Vision UK 597              

Jersey Overseas Aid (JOA)

My Healthy Schools 111              

START Network

Alert 343 Sierra Leone (Flooding) 124              

Alert 350 Yemen (Flooding) 99                

372 Iraq (Anticipation of Displacement) 284              

388 Philippines (Cyclone) 100              

Start Fund Alert 406 Honduras 150              

Alert 317 - Philippines (Anticipation of Lahar) Learning Grant 10                

417 Vanuatu (Cyclone) 100              

Alert 418 Tonga (Cyclone) 95                

Start Fund COVID 19 - CV19 082 Laos 186              

419 DRC (Flooding) 208              

Start Fund Alert 420 Yemen 288              

Rapid Response to urgent unmet needs of Venezuelan migrants and refugees population in Covid-19 context. (START Fund 

Alert CV19 058 Peru) 60                

Start Fund Alert 431 Togo 180              

NPL Start Fund COVID-19_response_2020 - Protecting the dignity and safety of migrants returnees 94                

Start Fund Alert 436 Guatemala 95                

Alert 368 Nigeria (Flooding) - via Action Aid 77                

317 Philippines (Anticipation of volcanic activity) - via Christian Aid 18                

COVID-19 Response Timor-Leste - via Oxfam 35                

Emergency project to limit the risk of spread of Covid-19 pandemic in the South of Chad - via Solidarity International 69                

The Power of Nutrition

Gujarat Nutrition Programme- Project Vrudhhi 710              

UKAID Match

Help Her Live Learn and Earn (HELP) 271              

United Nations Office for Project Service

The Strengthening Humanitarian Preparedness and Response Programme 1,075           

United Nations Peacebuilding Fund 

Mobilisation des Jeunes Engagés pour la Consolidation de la Paix en Côte d’Ivoire - MOJEC  (UNPBF 2018 Cote d’Ivoire - 

Youth Promotion Initiative) 559              

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with UK GAAP and Charities SORP and as a result are likely to differ from financial reports 

submitted to donor.



   
 
 

84 
 

ORGANISATIONAL DETAILS 
 
Carolyn Clarke (Chair) 1 [resigned 6 October 2021] 
Edward Bickham3 
Nigel Chapman (Acting Chair) 1,2,4 
Desiree D’Souza 2 [appointed 16 March 2021] 
Esther Kwaku 3,4  
Nadine Nohr4 
Marian Rose2 [resigned 9 December 2020] 
Edward Sparrow4  
Stephen Oxley2  
Khalid El Ansari 2,4  
Ebele Okobi1 [appointed 17 March 2020, resigned 1 February 2021] 
Kate Tench3 [appointed 17 March 2020, resigned 6 October 2021]  
Maliha Khan 3 [appointed 17 March 2020] 
Anita Yuen 2 [appointed 16 March 2021] 

 
Additional committee members  
Michael Fanning2[resigned 28 September 2020] 
Wendy Fenton3 
Kim Price2 [resigned 20 September 2020] 
Nasra Ismail3 [appointed 24 March 2020] 
 
1 Nominations and Remuneration Committee 
2 Finance and Audit Committee 
3 Programme and Policy Committee 
4 Ethics and People Committee 
 
Senior management team  
Laurie Lee Chief Executive 
Rachel Hewitt Finance Director/Chief Operating Officer [to 11 September 2020] 
Frances Longley Director, Programmes and Policy [to 1 April 2021] 
Erin Segilia Chase Director, Fundraising, Partnerships & Communications  
Eva Dixon Finance Director/Chief Operating Officer [from 3 August to 18 October 2021] 
Helen Thompson     Programme Development Director [from 1 July 2021] 
Laurent Martial        Programme Quality Director [from 1 July 2021] 
Sarah Barton          Finance Director [from 19 October 2021] 
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Company information 
Auditors 
BDO LLP 
2 City Place 
Beehive Ring Road 
Gatwick RH6 0PA 
 
Bankers 
Barclays Bank plc 
Level 28 
1 Churchill Place 
London E14 5HP 
 
HSBC plc 
UK City of London Commercial Centre 
60 Queen Victoria Street 
London EC4N 4TR 
 
Solicitors 
Ashurst LLP 
London Fruit and Wool Exchange 
1 Duval Square, London E1 6PW 
 
Lendwithcare advisors 
Julian Bashford 
Alison Fielding 
Theresa Lloyd 
Rebecca Ryan 
Fiona Thompson 
Neville Wright  
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THANK YOU TO OUR SUPPORTERS 
Thank you to everyone who has supported CARE in the last year.  
 
This includes all those people who have made one-off or regular donations or taken part in fundraising events 
and campaigns. Your support is invaluable in helping us to fight poverty around the world. We couldn’t do it 
without you. 
 
Thank you 
  
© Tony Riddle 
In 2019/20, incredible CARE supporters gave over £2 million through donations, gifts left in Wills, running, 
walking, cycling and all manner of other inspiring, sometimes crazy, fundraising activities.  
We don’t have space to thank you all personally but here are just a few of our favourites from the past year: 
• Tony Riddle (above) ran from Land’s End to John O’Groats – barefoot! – and raised £1,017 for CARE. 
 
• Luci Gorell Barnes (below, centre) and her friends Joannie Nakakawa (left) and Eszter Traumne Nemeth 
(right) raised £1,846 for our Yemen appeal through a homemade gin and jam sale. 
 
  
© Luci Gorell Barnes 
• 15 supporters joined our Vietnam to Cambodia bike ride in September 2019 and raised over £70,000 for 
CARE. Special thanks to Faiza, Nahla, and Lubna, three women living in Dubai, who raised £17,000 while 
challenging and breaking down stereotypes by participating in the ride. 
 
• Professor Ebbatson, who has been supporting CARE since 2013, and this year made a total of 11 
donations of £5 each – giving £55 in total. 
 
• Renee Vincett has been sending Lendwithcare a £15 cheque each month since August 2016 so that we 
can make loans on her behalf. She also donates all of the repayments on her loans towards Lendwithcare’s 
operational costs – meaning this year, as well as her monthly loans to small business owners through 
Lendwithcare, she gave £185. 
 
 
 
Statutory donors 
Conflict, Stability and Security Fund (CSSF) through the Foreign and Commonwealth Office 
Department for International Development (DFID) 
Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC) 
European Commission (EC) 
European Commission’s Directorate-General for Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection (ECHO) 
Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) 
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) 
United Nations Office for Project Services (UNOPS) 
United Nations Peacebuilding Fund (UNPBF) 
 
Trusts, foundations, and charities 
Action Aid UK 
Aga Khan Foundation UK 
Thani Bin Abdullah Bin Thani Al-Thani Humanitarian Fund 
Beatitudes Fund 
Better Cotton Initiative (BCI) 
Comic Relief 
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The Cotton Trust 
Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC)  
The Fawcett Society 
Generation Fund 
Global Challenges Research Fund 
Guernsey Overseas Aid  
Halcrow Trust 
International Rescue Committee UK (IRC) 
The IPSOS Foundation 
Islamic Relief Worldwide (UK) 
Jersey Overseas Aid 
Jimmy Choo Foundation  
Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust 
The Lord Deedes of Aldington Charitable Trust 
The MacDaibhidh Charitable Trust 
Marie Stopes International 
Mercy Corps Europe 
Norwegian Refugee Council 
Oxfam GB 
Oxford Brookes University 
Plan International UK 
People’s Postcode Lottery 
The Positive Action for Children Fund 
The Power of Nutrition 
Results for Development 
Save the Children 
Solidarites International 
St Clare & St Francis Trust 
START Fund 
START Network 
The Talent Fund/Make Humanity Great Again  
Tony Blair Institute 
VIIV Healthcare 
World Vision UK 
 
Companies 
Development Alternatives Inc (DAI) 
Diageo 
GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) 
Grant Thornton 
Heathrow Airport Ltd 
Hogan Lovells 
IHG (InterContinental Hotels Group) 
KPMG 
Marks & Spencer, PLC 
Mondelēz International, Inc. 
Mott MacDonald Ltd 
Palladium International Limited 
Price Waterhouse Cooper (PWC) 
Primark Stores (Ltd) 
Stars Group Ltd 
Sunbites UK 
Twinings 
Unilever 
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Key supporters 
David Arnold 
Jonathan Franklin  
Nicholas and Mary Grey 
Fiona Thompson 
 
Thank you to all those who donated to the Disasters Emergency Committee. As a member of the DEC, in 2019-
20 we received vital funds from the Cyclone Idai Appeal to assist affected communities in Mozambique. 
  
Registered office 
CARE International UK 
c/o Ashurst LLP 
London Fruit & Wool Exchange 
1 Duval Square 
London E1 6PW 
careinternational.org.uk 
insights.careinternational.org.uk 
lendwithcare.org 
Registered charity number: 0292506 
Private company limited by guarantee number (England and Wales): 01911651 
 
Front cover photo: Women from the Matu Masu Dubara Network of Tam in Diffa, Niger, with Aminatou Galadima, 
manager of one of our Women Lead in Emergencies pilot projects (see page X). Photo © Olliver Girard/CARE 
2019 
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Our mission 

Save lives, defeat poverty, and achieve social justice. 

Our vision 

We seek a world of hope, inclusion and social justice, where poverty has been overcome and all people live 

in dignity and security. 

Our focus 

We put women and girls in the centre because we know that we cannot overcome poverty until all people 

have equal rights and opportunities. 

 

Registered office 

CARE International UK 

c/o Ashurst LLP 

London Fruit and Wool Exchange 

1 Duval Square 

London E1 6PW 

Tel: 020 7091 6000 

careinternational.org.uk 

insights.careinternational.org.uk 

lendwithcare.org 

Registered charity number: 0292506 

Private company limited by guarantee number (England and Wales): 01911651 

 

Front cover photo: Women from the Matu Masu Dubara Network of Tam in Diffa, Niger, with Aminatou 

Galadima, manager of one of our Women Lead in Emergencies pilot projects (see page X). Photo © Olliver 

Girard/CARE 2019 
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